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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

      This Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, with respect to the financial condition, results of operations and business of Avnet, Inc. and subsidiaries
(“Avnet” or the “Company”). You can find many of these statements by looking for words like “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “should,” “will,” “may,”
“estimates” or similar expressions in this Report or in documents incorporated by reference in this Report.

      These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous assumptions, risks and uncertainties. Factors that may cause actual results to differ materially
from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, the following:

 • A technology industry down-cycle, particularly in the semiconductor sector, would adversely affect Avnet’s expected operating results.
 

 • Competitive margin pressures among distributors of electronic components and computer products may increase significantly through increased
competition for existing customers or otherwise.

 

 • General economic or business conditions, domestic and foreign, may be less favorable than management expected, resulting in lower sales and
profitability which can, in turn, impact the Company’s credit ratings, debt covenant compliance and liquidity, as well as the Company’s ability to
maintain existing unsecured financing or to obtain new financing.

 

 • Avnet may be adversely affected by the allocation of products by suppliers.
 

 • Avnet’s ability to successfully integrate the Memec acquisition may impact Avnet’s ability to achieve the desired synergy savings and expected
profitability in the combined business.

 

 • Legislative or regulatory changes may adversely affect the businesses in which Avnet is engaged.
 

 • Adverse changes may occur in the securities markets.
 

 • Changes in interest rates and currency fluctuations may impact Avnet’s profit margins.

      Although management believes that the plans and expectations reflected in or suggested by these forward-looking statements are reasonable, management
cannot assure you that the Company will achieve or realize these plans and expectations. Because forward-looking statements are subject to risks and
uncertainties, actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by them. Management cautions you not to place undue reliance on these
statements, which speak only as of the date of this Report.

      Avnet does not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Unaudited)

           

  December 31,  July 2,
  2005  2005
  

 
 

 

  (Thousands, except share
  amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets:         
 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 219,140  $ 637,867 
 Receivables, less allowances of $91,748 and $85,079, respectively   2,557,849   1,888,627 
 Inventories   1,508,879   1,224,698 
 Other   49,089   31,775 
  

 
  

 
 

  Total current assets   4,334,957   3,782,967 
Property, plant and equipment, net   161,534   157,428 
Goodwill (Notes 4 and 5)   1,369,718   895,300 
Other assets   289,291   262,520 
  

 
  

 
 

  Total assets  $ 6,155,500  $ 5,098,215 
       

 
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:         
 Borrowings due within one year (Note 6)  $ 288,452  $ 61,298 
 Accounts payable   1,696,710   1,296,713 
 Accrued expenses and other   492,855   359,507 
  

 
  

 
 

  Total current liabilities   2,478,017   1,717,518 
Long-term debt, less due within one year (Note 6)   1,020,930   1,183,195 
Other long-term liabilities   56,516   100,469 
  

 
  

 
 

  Total liabilities   3,555,463   3,001,182 
  

 
  

 
 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)         
Shareholders’ equity (Notes 9 and 10):         

 Common stock $1.00 par; authorized 300,000,000 shares; issued 145,958,000 shares and
120,771,000 shares, respectively   145,958   120,771 

 Additional paid-in capital   993,966   569,638 
 Retained earnings   1,357,561   1,283,028 
 Cumulative other comprehensive income (Note 9)   102,705   123,705 
 Treasury stock at cost, 6,960 shares and 5,231 shares, respectively   (153)   (109)
  

 
  

 
 

  Total shareholders’ equity   2,600,037   2,097,033 
  

 
  

 
 

  Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 6,155,500  $ 5,098,215 
       

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Unaudited)

                  

  Second Quarters Ended  Six Months Ended
  

 
 

 

  December 31,  January 1,  December 31,  January 1,
  2005  2005  2005  2005
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  (Thousands, except per share data)
Sales  $ 3,759,112  $ 2,883,155  $ 7,027,377  $ 5,483,156 
Cost of sales (Note 13)   3,297,276   2,509,275   6,142,309   4,759,666 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Gross profit   461,836   373,880   885,068   723,490 
Selling, general and administrative expenses   341,451   289,902   680,221   566,441 
Restructuring and other charges (Note 13)   15,632   —   22,956   — 
Integration costs (Note 13)   9,255   —   15,717   — 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Operating income   95,498   83,978   166,174   157,049 
Other income, net   2,960   113   4,838   386 
Interest expense   (23,115)   (21,254)   (46,844)   (42,125)
Debt extinguishment costs (Note 6)   —   —   (11,665)   — 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Income before income taxes   75,343   62,837   112,503   115,310 
Income tax provision   25,707   19,327   37,970   35,469 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Net income  $ 49,636  $ 43,510  $ 74,533  $ 79,841 
             

Net earnings per share (Note 10):                 
 Basic  $ 0.34  $ 0.36  $ 0.51  $ 0.66 
             

 Diluted  $ 0.34  $ 0.36  $ 0.51  $ 0.66 
             

Shares used to compute earnings per share
(Note 10):                 

 Basic   145,978   120,555   145,374   120,539 
             

 Diluted   146,821   121,426   146,886   121,353 
             

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)

            

  Six Months Ended
  

 

  December 31,  January 1,
  2005  2005
  

 
 

 

  (Thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:         
 Net income  $ 74,533  $ 79,841 
 Non-cash and other reconciling items:         
  Depreciation and amortization   32,975   30,764 
  Deferred income taxes   2,044   37,280 
  Non-cash restructuring and other charges (Note 13)   12,945   — 
  Other, net (Note 11)   33,708   22,125 
 Changes in (net of effects from business acquisitions):         
  Receivables   (333,864)   (103,456)
  Inventories   (52,590)   21,991 
  Accounts payable   134,322   173,420 
  Accrued expenses and other, net   (65,073)   (24,188)
  

 
  

 
 

   Net cash flows (used for) provided from operating activities   (161,000)   237,777 
  

 
  

 
 

Cash flows from financing activities:         
 Issuance of notes in public offering, net of issuance costs (Note 6)   246,483   — 
 Repayment of notes (Note 6)   (256,325)   (2,956)
 Proceeds from (repayments of) bank debt, net (Note 6)   58,111   (6,223)
 Repayments of other debt, net (Note 6)   (578)   (145)
 Other, net (Note 11)   23,579   184 
  

 
  

 
 

   Net cash flows provided from (used for) financing activities   71,270   (9,140)
  

 
  

 
 

Cash flows from investing activities:         
 Purchases of property, plant and equipment   (24,067)   (15,740)
 Cash proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment   1,629   6,797 
 Acquisition of operations, net (Note 4)   (304,022)   (1,105)
  

 
  

 
 

   Net cash flows used for investing activities   (326,460)   (10,048)
  

 
  

 
 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (2,537)   15,767 
  

 
  

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents:         
 — (decrease) increase   (418,727)   234,356 
 — at beginning of period   637,867   312,667 
  

 
  

 
 

 — at end of period  $ 219,140  $ 547,023 
       

 
Additional cash flow information (Note 11)         

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

5



Table of Contents

AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments necessary, all of which are of
a normal recurring nature, except for the acquisition and purchase price allocation adjustments discussed in Note 4, the debt extinguishment costs discussed in
Note 6 and the restructuring and other charges and integration costs discussed in Note 13, to present fairly the Company’s financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. For further information, refer to the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 2, 2005.

   Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior period financial statements to conform to the current year presentation.

2. The results of operations for the second quarter and six months ended December 31, 2005 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the
full year.

3. Stock-based Compensation

      Effective in the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based
Payments (“SFAS 123R”), which revises SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, be measured at fair
value and expensed in the consolidated statement of operations over the service period (generally the vesting period). Upon adoption, the Company
transitioned to SFAS 123R using the modified prospective application, whereby compensation cost is only recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations beginning with the first period that SFAS 123R is effective and thereafter, with prior periods’ stock-based compensation for option and employee
stock purchase plan activity still presented on a pro forma basis. The Company continues to use the Black-Scholes option valuation model to value stock
options. As a result of the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company recognized pre-tax charges of $2,871,000 and $6,025,000, respectively, in the three and six
months ended December 31, 2005, associated with the expensing of stock options and employee stock purchase plan activity. Additionally, the Company
increased its grant activity under other stock-based compensation programs that have always been expensed in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations, which yielded incremental expense under these other programs amounting to $1,150,000 and $1,777,000, respectively, when compared with the
second quarter of fiscal 2005 and first half of fiscal 2005. In the second quarter of fiscal 2006, the combination of these two changes resulting from the
adoption of SFAS 123R resulted in incremental expenses of $4,021,000 pre-tax (included in selling, general and administrative expenses), $2,649,000 after
tax or $0.02 per share on a diluted basis. In the first half of fiscal 2006, the incremental expense was $7,802,000 pre-tax (included in selling, general and
administrative expenses), $4,935,000 after tax or $0.04 per share on a diluted basis.
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AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

      Reported and pro forma net income and earnings per share are as follows:
                  

  Second Quarters Ended  Six Months Ended
  

 
 

 

  December 31,  January 1,  December 31,  January 1,
  2005  2005  2005  2005
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  (Thousands, except per share data)
Pre-tax stock-based compensation expense assuming

fair value method applied to all awards(1)  $ 4,359  $ 3,607  $ 8,429  $ 8,005 
             

Stock-based compensation expense, net of tax  $ 2,872  $ 2,180  $ 5,332  $ 4,839 
             

Net income, as reported  $ 49,636  $ 43,510  $ 74,533  $ 79,841 
Fair value impact of employee stock compensation not

reported in net income, net of tax   —   (2,009)   —   (4,499)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Pro forma net income  $ 49,636  $ 41,501  $ 74,533  $ 75,342 
             

Earnings per share:                 
 Basic and diluted — as reported  $ 0.34  $ 0.36  $ 0.51  $ 0.66 
             

 Basic — pro forma  $ 0.34  $ 0.35  $ 0.51  $ 0.63 
             

 Diluted — pro forma  $ 0.34  $ 0.34  $ 0.51  $ 0.62 
             

 

(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense for incentive stock, stock options, Employee Stock Purchase Plan activity and directors’ compensation for
the periods presented.

      The fair value of options granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model based on the assumptions in the table below. The
assumption for the expected life is based on evaluations of historical and expected future employee exercise behavior. The risk-free interest rate is based on
the US Treasury rates at the date of grant with maturity dates approximately equal to the expected life at the grant date. The historical stock volatility of
Avnet’s stock is used as the basis for the volatility assumption.
                 

  Second Quarters Ended  Six Months Ended
     

  December 31,  January 1,  December 31,  January 1,
  2005  2005  2005  2005
         

Expected life (years)   —   6.0   6.0   6.0 
Risk-free interest rate   —   3.7%   4.1%   3.5%
Weighted average volatility   —   44.8%   43.4%   44.9%
Dividend yield   —   —   —   — 

      At December 31, 2005, the Company had 14,698,033 shares of common stock reserved for stock option and stock incentive programs.
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AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Stock Option Plans

      The Company has four stock option plans with shares available for grant at December 31, 2005 as follows:
                 

  Plan
  

 

  1996  1997  1999  2003
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Minimum exercise
price as a percentage
of fair market value at
date of grant   100%   85%   85%   85% 

Plan termination date   December 31, 2006   November 19, 2007   November 21, 2009   September 18, 2013 
Shares available for

grant at December 31,
2005   156,131   6,376   88,631   3,022,176 

      Option grants under all four plans have a contractual life of ten years. Option grants vest 25% on each anniversary of the grant date, commencing with the
first anniversary.

      The following is a summary of the changes in outstanding options for the six months ended December 31, 2005:
                 

      Weighted   
    Weighted  Average   
    Average  Remaining   
    Exercise  Contractual  Aggregate
  Shares  Price  Life  Intrinsic Value
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Outstanding at July 2, 2005   9,955,201  $ 20.28   68 Months     
Granted   249,000   24.77   105 Months     
Exercised   (1,175,789)   18.05   43 Months     
Forfeited or expired   (258,552)   20.59   54 Months     
  

 
          

Outstanding at December 31, 2005   8,769,860   20.70   66 Months  $ 1,338,000 
             

Exercisable at December 31, 2005   6,579,686   21.57   56 Months  $ 1,338,000 
             

      The weighted-average grant-date fair values of share options granted during the first six months of fiscal 2006 and 2005, were $11.86 and $8.36,
respectively. The total intrinsic values of share options exercised during the first six months of fiscal 2006 and 2005, were $653,000 and $109,000,
respectively.
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AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

      The following is a summary of the changes in non-vested shares for the six months ended December 31, 2005:
         

    Weighted
    Average
    Grant-Date
  Shares  Fair Value
  

 
 

 

Non-vested shares at July 2, 2005   3,319,228  $ 8.05 
Granted   249,000   11.86 
Vested   (1,292,384)   7.69 
Forfeited   (85,670)   8.37 
  

 
    

Non-vested at December 31, 2005   2,190,174   8.69 
       

      As of December 31, 2005, there was $19,035,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested awards granted under the option plans,
which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.2 years. The total fair values of shares vested during the first half of fiscal 2006 and
2005 were $9,933,000 and $11,540,000, respectively.

      Cash received from option exercises during the first half of fiscal 2006 and 2005 totaled $21,224,000, and $668,000, respectively. The impact of these
cash receipts are included in Other, net, financing activities in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

      In October 1995, the Company implemented the Avnet Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). Under the terms of the ESPP, eligible employees of the
Company are offered options to purchase shares of Avnet common stock at a price equal to 85% of the fair market value on the first or last day, whichever is
lower, of each monthly offering period. The Company uses the actual fair market value as determined at the end of the 30 days to calculate compensation
expense for the ESPP. The pre-tax compensation expense recognized under the ESPP during the second quarter and first half of fiscal 2006 with the adoption
of SFAS 123R was $177,000 and $465,000, respectively. In January 2006, the Company amended the ESPP to allow for purchase of shares at 95% of fair
market value as of the last day of the month. As a result of these amended terms, Avnet will not be required to record expense in the consolidated statements
of operations related to the ESPP subsequent to this amendment.

      The Company has a policy of repurchasing shares on the open market to satisfy shares purchased under the ESPP, and expects future repurchases during
fiscal 2006 to be consistent with repurchases made during fiscal 2005, based on current estimates of participation in the program. During the first six months
of fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively, there were 108,212 and 148,416 shares of common stock issued under the ESPP program.

Incentive Stock

      The Company has an Incentive Stock Program wherein, at December 31, 2005, a total of 1,312,152 shares were still available for award based upon
operating achievements. Delivery of incentive shares, and the associated compensation expense, is spread equally over a five-year period and is subject to the
employee’s continued employment by the Company. As of December 31, 2005, 799,128 shares previously awarded have not yet been delivered. Pre-tax
compensation expense associated with this program was $1,765,000 and $488,000, respectively, for the first six months of fiscal 2006 and 2005.
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AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Performance Shares

      Beginning in fiscal 2006, eligible employees, including Avnet’s executive officers, may receive a portion of their long-term equity-based incentive
compensation through the performance share program under Avnet’s 2003 Stock Compensation Plan, which allows for the award of stock based upon
performance-based criteria(“Performance Shares”). These Performance Shares will be awarded under the terms of the Company’s existing stock incentive
plans. The Performance Shares will provide for payment to each grantee of a number of shares of Avnet’s common stock at the end of a three-year period
based upon the Company’s achievement of performance goals established by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors for each three-year
period. These performance goals are based upon a three-year cumulative increase in the Company’s absolute economic profit, as defined, over the prior three-
year period and the increase in the Company’s economic profit relative to the increase in the economic profit of a peer group of corporations. During the first
six months of fiscal 2006, the Company granted 194,530 performance shares, to be awarded to participants in the Performance Share program in three years.
The actual amount of Performance Shares issued at the end of the three year period will be determined based upon the level of achievement of the defined
performance goals. During the second quarter and six months ended December 31, 2005, the Company recognized pre-tax compensation expense associated
with the Performance Shares of $500,000.

Outside Director Stock Bonus Plan

      Prior to the second quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company had a program whereby non-employee directors were awarded shares equal to $20,000 of Avnet
common stock upon their re-election each year, as part of their director compensation package. Directors may elect to receive this compensation in the form
of common stock under the Outside Director Stock Bonus Plan or they may elect to defer their compensation to be paid in common stock at a later date.
Shares under this plan were issued in January of each year and the number of shares was calculated by dividing $20,000 by the average of the high and low
price of Avnet common stock on the first business day of January. During the second quarter of fiscal 2006, this plan was amended such that directors are
awarded shares equal to $75,000, to be applied effective with the January 2006 award. The increase in the value of shares awarded to directors of the
Company was part of a change in director’s compensation, which also eliminated the granting of options to the non-employee directors. As of December 31,
2005, 21,361 shares were reserved for issuance under this plan.

4. Acquisitions

      On July 5, 2005, the Company acquired Memec Group Holdings Limited (“Memec”), a global distributor that markets and sells a portfolio of
semiconductor devices from industry-leading suppliers in addition to providing customers with engineering expertise and design services. Memec, with sales
of $2.28 billion for the twelve months ended July 4, 2005, is anticipated to be fully integrated into the Electronics Marketing group (“EM”) of Avnet by the
end of fiscal 2006, with a substantial portion of the integration having been completed at the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2006.

Purchase Price

      The consideration for the Memec acquisition consisted of stock and cash valued at approximately $506,293,000, including transaction costs, plus the
assumption of $239,960,000 of Memec’s net debt (debt less cash acquired). All but $27,343,000 of this acquired net debt was repaid upon the closing of the
acquisition. Under the terms of the purchase, Memec investors received 24,011,000 shares of Avnet common stock plus $63,957,000 of cash. The shares of
Avnet common stock were valued at $17.42 per share, which represents the five-day average stock price beginning two days before the acquisition
announcement on April 26, 2005.
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AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Preliminary Allocation of Purchase Price

      The Memec acquisition is accounted for as a purchase business combination. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet at their estimated fair values as of July 5, 2005. A preliminary allocation of purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the date of acquisition is presented in the following table. This allocation is based upon a preliminary valuation using management’s estimates and
assumptions. This preliminary allocation is subject to adjustment as the Company has not yet completed its evaluation of the fair value of assets and liabilities
acquired, including the valuation of any potential amortizable intangible assets created through the acquisition. Furthermore, the assets and liabilities in the
following table include preliminary estimates of severance for Memec workforce reductions, write-downs in value of Memec owned facilities and lease
commitments of leased facilities that will no longer be used or for which the use will be substantially changed in the combined business, write-offs or write-
downs in value of certain Memec information technology assets that will have limited or no use in the combined business, and write-downs of acquired
inventory to net realizable value (see Preliminary acquisition-related activity accounted for in purchase accounting included in this Note 4). These estimates
are also subject to further adjustment as the Company finalizes the actions that will be taken and the charges associated with the integration of Memec into
Avnet’s operations. The Company expects these adjustments will be completed within the purchase price allocation period, which is generally within one year
of the acquisition date.
      

  July 5, 2005
  

 

  (Thousands)
Current assets  $ 702,123 
Property, plant and equipment   19,104 
Goodwill   470,062 
Other assets   37,703 
  

 
 

 Total assets acquired   1,228,992 
  

 
 

Current liabilities, excluding current portion of long-term debt   417,656 
Long-term liabilities   12,700 
Total debt   27,343 
  

 
 

 Total liabilities assumed   457,699 
  

 
 

 Net assets acquired  $ 771,293 
  

 
 

Cash acquired   (52,383)
Debt assumed   27,343 
  

 
 

 Purchase price and debt assumed, net of cash acquired  $ 746,253 
    

      The acquisition of Memec will expand EM in each of the three major economic regions. The combination of Memec’s Asian operations with Avnet’s
industry-leading position, based on sales, in the Asia region will provide Avnet with a stronger position in this key growth region. Memec’s already
established position in Japan — the only U.S.-based distributor with such a presence in the Japanese market — also represents an opportunity by providing
entry into this major electronic component marketplace. Because Memec’s operations and business model is similar to Avnet’s, management has been able to
achieve significant operating expense synergies through the integration efforts to date, with further synergies to be realized as the integration efforts are
completed in the second half of fiscal 2006. The combination of these factors are the drivers behind the excess of purchase price paid over the value of assets
and liabilities acquired.
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AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

      The consideration paid in excess of Memec net assets is reflected as a preliminary estimate of goodwill in the preceding table. As stated previously, the
Company has not completed its valuation of any potential amortizable intangible assets created as a result of the acquisition. Any amortizable intangible
assets identified by management and valued as a result of this process will affect the final determination of goodwill. A portion of the goodwill generated by
the Memec acquisition is expected to be deductible for tax purposes, although the Company has not yet quantified the deductible portion.

Preliminary Acquisition-related Activity Accounted for in Purchase Accounting

      As a result of the acquisition, the Company established and approved plans to integrate the acquired operations into all three regions of the Company’s
EM operations, for which the Company recorded $99,164,000 in preliminary purchase accounting adjustments during the first half of fiscal 2006. These
purchase accounting adjustments consist primarily of severance, lease and other contract termination costs, write-downs in value of Memec owned facilities,
write-offs or write-downs in value of certain Memec information technology assets, and write-downs of acquired inventory to net realizable value.

      The following table summarizes the adjustments that have been preliminarily established through purchase accounting and the related activity that has
occurred during the first half of fiscal 2006:
                      

    Facility Exit  IT-Related     
  Severance  Reserves/  Reserves/     
  Reserves  Write-downs  Write-downs  Other  Total
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  (Thousands)
Purchase accounting adjustments  $ 28,659  $ 29,485  $ 18,198  $ 22,822  $ 99,164 
 Amounts utilized   (16,636)   (13,556)   (14,969)   (22,131)   (67,292)

 
Other, principally foreign currency

translation   (202)   (3)   —   (1)   (206)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Balance at December 31, 2005  $ 11,821  $ 15,926  $ 3,229  $ 690  $ 31,666 
                

      Total amounts utilized during the first six months of fiscal 2006 consisted of $23,119,000 in cash payments and $44,173,000 in non-cash write-downs.

      The purchase accounting reserves established for severance are for reductions of workforce acquired from Memec relating to over 700 personnel primarily
in the Americas and EMEA regions, including reductions in senior management, administrative, finance and certain operational functions. These reductions
are based on management’s assessment of redundant Memec positions compared with existing Avnet positions and are driven primarily by completed and
current consolidations of Memec facilities into Avnet facilities. Severance reserves, particularly those estimated to date for the EMEA region, may be
adjusted during the purchase price allocation period because these costs are subject to local regulations and approvals.

      The costs associated with the consolidation of over 60 Memec facilities are presented in the Facility Exit Reserves/ Write-downs in the table above and
include estimated future payments for non-cancelable leases, early lease termination costs, the write-down to fair value for three Memec owned properties in
EMEA, and write-downs or write-offs of Memec owned assets in these facilities, including capitalized equipment and leasehold improvements. These actions
relate primarily to facilities located in the Americas and EMEA. These reserves are subject to adjustment based on final analyses of the ultimate liabilities.

      The IT-related reserves relate primarily to the write-offs or write-downs in the value of certain Memec information technology assets, including financial
information systems, that were made redundant in the combined Memec and Avnet business through the continued use of Avnet’s existing systems. Other
reserves relate primarily to the write-down of certain Memec inventory lines to estimated net realizable value as of the
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acquisition date based on anticipated demand, supplier return and stock rotation privileges, age analysis and other known factors that existed as of the
acquisition date.

      Estimated purchase accounting adjustments may change as the Company continues to execute its integration plan, particularly as it relates to EMEA
severance and facility exit costs. However, the Company expects to complete all actions encompassed in the plan by the end of fiscal 2006. Cash payments
for severance are expected to be substantially paid out before the end of fiscal 2007, whereas reserves for other contractual commitments, particularly for
certain lease commitments, will extend into fiscal 2010. In addition, the Company is in the process of evaluating tax assets acquired with Memec and the
related valuation allowance needs as well as potential amortizable intangible assets resulting from the acquisition. As a result, goodwill as estimated through
purchase accounting adjustments is considered to be preliminary and subject to change.

Pro Forma Results

      Unaudited pro forma financial information is presented below as if the acquisition of Memec occurred at the beginning of fiscal 2005. The pro forma
information presented below does not purport to present what actual results would have been had the acquisition in fact occurred at the beginning of fiscal
2005, nor does the information project results for any future period. Pro forma financial information is not presented for fiscal 2006 because the acquisition
occurred on July 5, 2005, which was three days after the beginning of the Company’s fiscal year 2006. As a result, the accompanying consolidated statement
of operations for the quarter and six months ended January 1, 2005 effectively includes Memec’s results of operations for comparative purposes.
         

  Pro Forma Results  Pro Forma Results
  Second Quarter Ended  Six Months Ended
  January 1, 2005  January 1, 2005
  

 
 

 

  (Thousands, except per share data)
Pro forma sales  $ 3,429,346  $ 6,614,472 
Pro forma operating income   92,012   181,001 
Pro forma net income   37,841   77,081 
Pro forma diluted earnings per share  $ 0.26  $ 0.53 

      The combined results for Avnet and Memec for the second quarter and six months ended January 1, 2005 were adjusted for the following in order to
create the pro forma results in the table above:

 • $11,875,000 pre-tax, $8,464,000 after-tax, or $0.06 per diluted share, and $23,986,000 pre-tax, $15,926,000 after-tax, or $0.11 per diluted share,
respectively, for the second quarter and six months ended January 1, 2005 for interest expense relating to Memec’s shareholder loans that were retired
at acquisition through the issuance of Avnet common stock;

 

 • $2,385,000 pre-tax, $1,571,000 after-tax, or $0.01 per diluted share, and $5,531,000 pre-tax, $3,679,000 after-tax or $0.02 per diluted share,
respectively, for the second quarter and six months ended January 1, 2005 for capitalized costs written off relating to Memec’s cancelled initial public
offering and restructuring charges incurred by Memec;

 

 • $1,444,000 pre-tax, $951,000 after-tax, or $0.01 per diluted share, and $2,888,000 pre-tax, $1,918,000 after-tax, or $0.02 per diluted share, respectively,
for the second quarter and six months ended January 1, 2005 for amortization relating to intangible assets and deferred financing costs for the
shareholder loans that were retired at acquisition; and

 

 • pro forma diluted earnings per share includes the impact of the 24.011 million shares of Avnet’s common stock issued as part of the consideration.
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      Pro forma results above exclude any benefits that may result from the acquisition due to synergies that were derived from the elimination of any
duplicative costs. In addition, the pro forma results have not been adjusted to remove the following Memec costs, which management considers to be non-
recurring:

 • $4,814,000 pre-tax, $3,171,000 after-tax, or $0.02 per diluted share, and $9,728,000 pre-tax, $6,463,000 after-tax, or $0.04 per diluted share,
respectively, for the second quarter and six months ended January 1, 2005, for interest expense relating to Memec’s loan secured by receivables and
term loans that were paid immediately upon the close of the acquisition; and

 

 • $4,552,000 pre-tax, $2,999,000 after-tax, or $0.02 per diluted share, and $7,100,000 pre-tax, $4,707,000 after-tax, or $0.03 per diluted share,
respectively, for the second quarter and six months ended January 1, 2005, for selling, general and administrative costs relating to Memec’s non-
recurring consulting and other project costs, annual management fee, and other severance-related costs that are no longer incurred following the
acquisition.

5. Goodwill

      The following table presents the carrying amount of goodwill, by reportable segment, for the three months ended December 31, 2005:
             

  Electronics  Technology   
  Marketing  Solutions  Total
  

 
 

 
 

 

  (Thousands)
Carrying value at July 2, 2005  $ 637,122  $ 258,178  $ 895,300 
Additions   474,403   795   475,198 
Foreign currency translation   —   (780)   (780)
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Carrying value at December 31, 2005  $ 1,111,525  $ 258,193  $ 1,369,718 
          

      The additions in EM relate to the Memec acquisition (see Note 4) and the purchase of shares held by a minority interest holder in one of the Company’s
Israeli subsidiaries. The additions in Technology Solutions (“TS”) relate primarily to a final earnout payment made in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 to the
former owners of DNS Slovakia, which was acquired by Avnet in fiscal 2005.

6. External Financing

      Short-term debt consists of the following:
          

  December 31,  July 2,
  2005  2005
  

 
 

 

  (Thousands)
8.00% Notes due November 15, 2006  $ 143,675  $ — 
Bank credit facilities   143,409   60,468 
Other debt due within one year   1,368   830 
  

 
  

 
 

 Short-term debt  $ 288,452  $ 61,298 
       

      Bank credit facilities consist of various committed and uncommitted lines of credit with financial institutions utilized primarily to support the working
capital requirements of foreign operations, including bank credit facilities in Japan assumed as part of the acquisition of Memec (see Note 4). The weighted
average interest rates on the bank credit facilities at December 31, 2005 and July 2, 2005 were 3.5% and 4.0%, respectively. Although interest rates generally
rose during the six month period ended December 31, 2005, the weighted average rate at December 31, 2005 is lower than at July 2, 2005 primarily due to the
mix of the Company’s outstanding borrowings amongst its different bank credit facilities. Specifically, at December 31,
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2005, more than 25% of borrowings on bank credit facilities were drawn on the Japanese facility acquired with Memec in the first quarter of fiscal 2006. The
interest rates for borrowings under this facility average less than 1%.

      As of July 2, 2005, the Company had an accounts receivable securitization program (the “Program”) with two financial institutions that allowed the
Company to sell, on a revolving basis, an undivided interest of up to $350,000,000 in eligible U.S. receivables while retaining a subordinated interest in a
portion of the receivables. At July 2, 2005, the Program qualified for sale treatment under SFAS 140. The Company had no drawings outstanding under the
Program at July 2, 2005.

      During the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company amended the Program to, among other things, increase the maximum amount available for borrowing
from $350,000,000 to $450,000,000. In addition, the amended Program now provides that drawings under the Program no longer qualify as off-balance sheet
financing. As a result, the receivables and related debt obligation will remain on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet when amounts are drawn on the
Program. The Program, as amended, has a one year term which expires in August 2006. There were no drawings outstanding under the Program at
December 31, 2005.

      Long-term debt consists of the following:
           

  December 31,  July 2,
  2005  2005
  

 
 

 

  (Thousands)
8.00% Notes due November 15, 2006  $ —  $ 400,000 
93/4% Notes due February 15, 2008   475,000   475,000 
6.00% Notes due September 1, 2015   250,000   — 
2% Convertible Senior Debentures due March 15, 2034   300,000   300,000 
Other long-term debt   5,430   7,285 
  

 
  

 
 

 Subtotal   1,030,430   1,182,285 
Fair value adjustment for hedged 8.00% and 93/4% Notes   (9,500)   910 
  

 
  

 
 

  Long-term debt  $ 1,020,930  $ 1,183,195 
       

      As of July 2, 2005, the Company had an unsecured $350,000,000 credit facility with a syndicate of banks (the “Credit Facility”), expiring in June 2007.

      During the second quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company amended and restated the Credit Facility to, among other things, increase the borrowing capacity
from $350,000,000 to $500,000,000, and increase the maximum amount of the total facility that can be used for letters of credit from $75,000,000 to
$100,000,000 (the “Amended Credit Facility”). In addition, the Amended Credit Facility has a five-year term that matures in October 2010. The Company
may still select from various interest rate options, currencies and maturities under the Amended Credit Facility. The Amended Credit Facility contains certain
covenants, all of which the Company was in compliance with as of December 31, 2005. There were no borrowings under the Amended Credit Facility at
December 31, 2005 or the Credit Facility at July 2, 2005.

      In August 2005, the Company issued $250,000,000 of 6.00% Notes due September 1, 2015 (the “6% Notes”). The proceeds from the offering, net of
discount and underwriting fees, were $246,483,000. The Company used these proceeds, plus cash and cash equivalents on hand, to fund the tender and
repurchase of $250,000,000 of the 8.00% Notes due November 15, 2006 (the “8% Notes”), at a price of $1,045 per $1,000 principal amount of Notes. In
addition, the Company also repurchased $4,095,000 of the 8% Notes at a premium of approximately $1,038 per $1,000 principal amount of Notes. As a result
of the tender and repurchases, the Company incurred debt extinguishment costs of $11,665,000 pre-tax, $7,052,000 after tax or $0.05 per share on a diluted
basis, relating primarily to premiums and other transaction costs. In December
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2005, the Company repurchased an additional $2,230,000 of the 8% Notes at a premium of approximately $1,026 per $1,000 principal amount of Notes.

      The Company’s $300,000,000 of 2% Convertible Senior Debentures due March 15, 2034 (the “Debentures”) are convertible into Avnet common stock at
a rate of 29.5516 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Debentures. The Debentures are only convertible under certain circumstances,
including if: (i) the closing price of the Company’s common stock reaches $45.68 per share (subject to adjustment in certain circumstances) for a specified
period of time; (ii) the average trading price of the Debentures falls below a certain percentage of the conversion value per Debenture for a specified period of
time; (iii) the Company calls the Debentures for redemption; or (iv) certain corporate transactions, as defined, occur. Upon conversion, the Company will
deliver cash in lieu of common stock as the Company made an irrevocable election in December 2004 to satisfy the principal portion of the Debentures, if
converted, in cash. The Company may redeem some or all of the Debentures for cash any time on or after March 20, 2009 at the Debentures’ full principal
amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Holders of the Debentures may require the Company to purchase, in cash, all or a portion of the Debentures
on March 15, 2009, 2014, 2019, 2024 and 2029, or upon a fundamental change, as defined, at the Debentures’ full principal amount plus accrued and unpaid
interest, if any.

      At July 2, 2005, the Company had two interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $400,000,000 in order to hedge the change in fair value of the
8% Notes related to fluctuations in interest rates. These contracts were classified as fair value hedges with a November 2006 maturity date. The interest rate
swaps modified the Company’s interest rate exposure by effectively converting the fixed rate on the 8% Notes to a floating rate (6.4% at July 2, 2005) based
on three-month U.S. LIBOR plus a spread through their maturities. During the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company terminated the interest rate swaps
which hedged the 8% Notes due to the repurchase of $254,095,000 of the $400,000,000 8% Notes, as previously discussed. The termination of the swaps
resulted in net proceeds to the Company, of which, $1,273,000 was netted in debt extinguishment costs in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 based on the pro rata
portion of the 8% Notes that were repurchased. The remaining proceeds of $764,000, which represent the pro rata portion of the 8% Notes that have not been
repurchased, have been capitalized in other long-term debt and are being amortized over the maturity of the remaining 8% Notes.

      The Company has three additional interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $300,000,000 in order to hedge the change in fair value of the 9
3/4% Notes due February 15, 2008 (the “9 3/4% Notes”) related to fluctuations in interest rates. These hedges are classified as fair value hedges and mature in
February 2008. These interest rate swaps modify the Company’s interest rate exposure by effectively converting the fixed rate on the 9 3/4% Notes to a
floating rate (10.7% at December 31, 2005) based on three-month U.S. LIBOR plus a spread through their maturities.

      The hedged fixed rate debt and the interest rate swaps are adjusted to current market values through interest expense in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations. The Company accounts for the hedges using the shortcut method as defined under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 138, Accounting for
Certain Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. Due to the effectiveness of the hedges since inception, the market value adjustments for the hedged
debt and the interest rate swaps directly offset one another. The fair value of the interest rate swaps at December 31, 2005 and July 2, 2005 was a liability of
$9,500,000 and an asset of $910,000, respectively, and is included in other long-term liabilities and other long-term assets, respectively, in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. Additionally, included in long-term debt is a comparable fair value adjustment decreasing long-term debt by $9,500,000 at
December 31, 2005 and increasing long-term debt by $910,000 at July 2, 2005.
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7. Commitments and Contingencies

      From time to time, the Company may become liable with respect to pending and threatened litigation, tax, environmental and other matters. The Company
has been designated a potentially responsible party or has become aware of other potential claims against it in connection with environmental clean-ups at
several sites. Based upon the information known to date, the Company believes that it has appropriately reserved for its share of the costs of the clean-ups and
management does not anticipate that any contingent matters will have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition, liquidity or results of
operations.

8. Pension Plan

      The Company’s noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the “Plan”) covers substantially all domestic employees. Components of net periodic
pension costs during the second quarter and first six months of fiscal 2006 and 2005 were as follows:
                  

  Second Quarters Ended  Six Months Ended
  

 
 

 

  December 31,  January 1,  December 31,  January 1,
  2005  2005  2005  2005
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  (Thousands)
Service cost  $ 3,791  $ 3,341  $ 7,582  $ 6,682 
Interest cost   3,543   3,515   7,086   7,030 
Expected return on plan assets   (5,144)   (4,132)   (10,288)   (8,264)
Recognized net actuarial loss   1,129   336   2,258   672 
Amortization of prior service credit   (80)   (80)   (160)   (160)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

 Net periodic pension costs  $ 3,239  $ 2,980  $ 6,478  $ 5,960 
             

      During the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company made contributions to the Plan totaling $58,638,000. Management does not anticipate making any
further contributions to the Plan during fiscal 2006.

9. Comprehensive Income
                  

  Second Quarters Ended  Six Months Ended
  

 
 

 

  December 31,  January 1,  December 31,  January 1,
  2005  2005  2005  2005
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  (Thousands)
Net income  $ 49,636  $ 43,510  $ 74,533  $ 79,841 
Foreign currency translation adjustments   (15,115)   113,371   (21,000)   134,539 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

 Total comprehensive income  $ 34,521  $ 156,881  $ 53,533  $ 214,380 
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10. Earnings Per Share
                   

  Second Quarters Ended  Six Months Ended
  

 
 

 

  December 31,  January 1,  December 31,  January 1,
  2005  2005  2005  2005
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  (Thousands, except per share data)
Numerator:                 
  Net income  $ 49,636  $ 43,510  $ 74,533  $ 79,841 
             

Denominator:                 

 Weighted average common shares for basic
earnings per share   145,978   120,555   145,374   120,539 

 
Net effect of dilutive stock options and restricted

stock awards   843   871   1,512   814 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

 Weighted average common shares for diluted
earnings per share   146,821   121,426   146,886   121,353 

             

Basic earnings per share  $ 0.34  $ 0.36  $ 0.51  $ 0.66 
             

Diluted earnings per share  $ 0.34  $ 0.36  $ 0.51  $ 0.66 
             

      The 4.5% Convertible Notes, which matured in September 2004, are excluded from the computation of earnings per share as the effects were antidilutive.
The Debentures, due March 2034, are also excluded from the computation of earnings per share for the quarter and six months ended December 31, 2005 as a
result of the Company’s election to satisfy the principal portion of the Debentures, if converted, in cash (see Note 6). Shares issuable upon conversion of the
Debentures were also excluded from the computation of earnings per share in the second quarter and six months ended January 1, 2005 because the
contingent condition for their conversion had not been met.

      The effects of certain stock options and unvested stock awards are also excluded from the determination of the weighted average common shares for
diluted earnings per share in each of the periods presented as the effects were antidilutive because the exercise price for the outstanding options exceeded the
average market price for the Company’s stock. Accordingly, in the second quarters of fiscal 2006 and 2005, the effects of 2,745,000 and 7,218,000 shares,
respectively, are excluded from the computation above, all of which relate to options for which the exercise prices were greater than the average market price
of the Company’s common stock. In the first six months of fiscal 2006 and 2005, the effects of 2,629,000 and 7,218,000 shares, respectively, are excluded
from the computation above, all of which relate to options for which the exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the Company’s
common stock. In addition, the Performance Shares, which were issued during fiscal 2006, are accounted for as contingently issuable shares in determining
the impact on diluted earnings per share. For the second quarter and six months ended December 31, 2005, the Performance Shares have been excluded from
the computation above because none of the necessary conditions for including contingently issuable shares in diluted earnings per share have been met.
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11. Additional Cash Flow Information

      Other non-cash and other reconciling items consist of the following:
         

  Six Months Ended
  

 

  December 31,  January 1,
  2005  2005
  

 
 

 

  (Thousands)
Provision for doubtful accounts  $ 18,328  $ 14,719 
Stock-based compensation (Note 3)   8,429   564 
Periodic pension costs (Note 8)   6,478   5,960 
Other, net   473   882 
  

 
  

 
 

  $ 33,708  $ 22,125 
       

      Other, net, cash flows from financing activities are comprised primarily of proceeds from the exercise of stock options (see Note 3), including tax effects
relating to stock-based compensation costs with the corresponding offset in cash from operating activities.

      Interest and income taxes paid in the six months ended December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005, respectively, were as follows:
         

  Six Months Ended
  

 

  December 31,  January 1,
  2005  2005
  

 
 

 

  (Thousands)
Interest  $ 41,668  $ 40,920 
Income taxes   19,167   15,131 

      Non-cash activity during the first half of fiscal 2006 that was a result of the Memec acquisition (see Note 4) consisted of $418,206,000 of common stock
issued as part of the consideration, $430,356,000 of liabilities assumed and $27,343,000 of debt assumed.
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12. Segment Information
                  

  Second Quarters Ended  Six Months Ended
  

 
 

 

  December 31,  January 2,  December 31,  January 1,
  2005  2005  2005  2005
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  (Thousands)
Sales:                 
 Avnet Electronics Marketing  $ 2,257,326  $ 1,478,189  $ 4,368,439  $ 3,042,412 
 Avnet Technology Solutions   1,501,786   1,404,966   2,658,938   2,440,744 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  $ 3,759,112  $ 2,883,155  $ 7,027,377  $ 5,483,156 
             

Operating income (loss):                 
 Avnet Electronics Marketing  $ 91,567  $ 47,406  $ 161,485  $ 106,293 
 Avnet Technology Solutions   55,269   51,223   87,832   78,544 
 Corporate   (18,914)   (14,651)   (36,934)   (27,788)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

   127,922   83,978   212,383   157,049 
Restructuring and other charges and

integration costs (Note 13)   (32,424)   —   (46,209)   — 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  $ 95,498  $ 83,978  $ 166,174  $ 157,049 
             

Sales, by geographic area:                 
 Americas(1)  $ 1,956,774  $ 1,528,978  $ 3,645,575  $ 2,871,321 
 EMEA(2)   1,116,577   974,706   2,091,211   1,847,924 
 Asia/ Pacific(3)   685,761   379,471   1,290,591   763,911 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  $ 3,759,112  $ 2,883,155  $ 7,027,377  $ 5,483,156 
             

 

(1) Included in sales for the second quarters ended December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005 for the Americas region are $1.73 billion and $1.38 billion,
respectively, of sales related to the United States. Included in sales for the six months ended December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005 for the Americas
region are $3.22 billion and $2.60 billion, respectively, of sales related to the United States.

 

(2) Included in sales for the second quarters ended December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005 for the EMEA region are $565,550,000 and $449,466,000,
respectively, of sales related to Germany. Included in sales for the six months ended December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005 for the EMEA region are
$1.09 billion and $1.01 billion, respectively, of sales related to Germany.

 

(3) Included in sales for the second quarter and six months ended December 31, 2005 for the Asia/ Pacific region is $217,575,000 and $422,892,000,
respectively, of sales related to Hong Kong. Hong Kong sales
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for the second quarter and six months ended January 1, 2005 were not a significant component of consolidated sales.
          

  December 31,  July 2,
  2005  2005
  

 
 

 

  (Thousands)
Assets:         
 Electronics Marketing  $ 4,391,187  $ 3,158,530 
 Technology Solutions   1,605,532   1,357,884 
 Corporate   158,781   581,801 
  

 
  

 
 

  $ 6,155,500  $ 5,098,215 
       

Property, plant, and equipment, net, by geographic area Americas(4)  $ 98,994  $ 95,706 
 EMEA(5)   9,158   52,690 
 Asia/ Pacific   53,382   9,032 
  

 
  

 
 

  $ 161,534  $ 157,428 
       

 

(4) Property, plant and equipment, net, for the Americas region as of December 31, 2005 and July 2, 2005 included $98,022,000 and $94,641,000,
respectively, related to the United States.

 

(5) Property, plant and equipment, net, for the EMEA region as of December 31, 2005 and July 2, 2005 included $26,063,000 and $28,467,000,
respectively, related to Germany and $13,275,000 and $14,192,000, respectively, related to Belgium.

13. Restructuring and Other Charges and Integration Costs

Fiscal 2006

      During the second quarter and six months ended December 31, 2005, the Company incurred certain restructuring charges and integration costs primarily
as a result of the acquisition of Memec on July 5, 2005 (see Note 4), which is being integrated into the Company’s existing Electronic Marketing operations in
all three regions. As a result of the acquisition integration efforts, the Company established and approved plans to restructure certain of Avnet’s existing
operations to accommodate the merger of the two businesses. In addition, the Company incurred other charges relating to certain cost reduction actions taken
by TS in the EMEA region, and charges for the write-down of certain owned facilities, which are unrelated to the Memec integration efforts. The following
table summarizes the activity relating to these fiscal 2006 charges:
                      

    Facility       
  Severance  Exit  IT-Related     
  Costs  Costs  Costs  Other  Total
           

  (Thousands)
Fiscal 2006 pre-tax charges  $ 13,880  $ 3,103  $ 2,335  $ 3,756  $ 23,074 
 Amounts utilized   (8,822)   (569)   (2,335)   (3,205)   (14,931)
 Other, principally foreign currency translation   (21)   —   —   (4)   (25)
                

Balance at December 31, 2005  $ 5,037  $ 2,534  $ —  $ 547  $ 8,118 
                

      The restructuring and other charges incurred during the second quarter of fiscal 2006 totaled $23,168,000 pre-tax and $15,263,000 after-tax, or $0.10 per
share on a diluted basis. Of this total pre-tax charge, $7,536,000 related to inventory write-downs associated with certain terminated inventory lines. This
portion of
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the pre-tax charge was included in cost of sales in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. The remaining second quarter pre-tax charge of
$15,632,000, which is included in restructuring and other charges in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations, consisted of $9,785,000 for
severance costs ($9,257,000 related to EM resulting from the Memec integration and $528,000 related to certain personnel reductions in TS EMEA), facility
exit costs of $2,320,000 ($2,062,000 in EM and $258,000 in TS) and $3,645,000 for other charges in EM. These other charges included impairment charges
related to two owned but vacant Avnet buildings totaling $2,671,000. Finally, a reversal of $118,000 in excess remaining restructuring reserves recorded in
prior fiscal years in TS EMEA was recorded in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 (see Fiscal 2004 and 2003 in this Note 13 for further discussion).

      The restructuring and other charges incurred during the six months ended December 31, 2005 totaled $30,492,000 pre-tax ($23,074,000 included in the
preceding table and $7,536,000 recorded in cost of sales as discussed below, net of a reversal of $118,000 included in the table covering fiscal 2004 and 2003
charges in this Note 13) and $20,567,000 after-tax, or $0.14 per share on a diluted basis. The pre-tax charges consisted of inventory write-downs for
terminated lines amounting to $7,536,000 and recorded through cost of sales in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. The remaining pre-
tax charge of $22,956,000, which was included in restructuring and other charges in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations, includes
$13,880,000 for severance costs ($12,739,000 in EM resulting primarily from the Memec integration and $1,141,000 for the reduction of certainTS personnel
in EMEA), facility exit costs of $3,103,000 ($2,845,000 in EM and $258,000 in TS EMEA, both related to remaining lease reserves), $2,335,000 for the
write-down of certain capitalized IT-related initiatives, primarily in the Americas, and $3,756,000 for other charges. These other charges included impairment
charges related to two owned but vacant Avnet buildings totaling $2,671,000. The Company also recorded a reversal of $118,000 in excess remaining
restructuring reserves recorded in prior fiscal years in TS EMEA during the six months ended December 31, 2005 (see Fiscal 2004 and 2003 reserve
discussion in this Note 13).

      The charge for terminated inventory lines relates to a strategic decision during the second quarter of fiscal 2006 to exit certain product lines within EM in
the Americas. As a result, management recorded a write-down of the related inventory on hand to fair market value due to the lack of contractual return
privileges when a line is terminated by Avnet. Severance charges incurred during the first and second quarters of fiscal 2006 related to work force reductions
of over 200 personnel primarily in administrative and support functions in the EMEA and Americas regions. The majority of the positions eliminated were
Avnet personnel that were deemed redundant by management with the merger of Memec into Avnet and also includes a small number of primarily
administrative staff in TS’s operations in EMEA who were identified as redundant based upon the realignment of certain job functions in that region. The
facility exit charges relate to liabilities for remaining non-cancelable lease obligations and the write-down of property, plant and equipment at two facilities in
the Americas. The facilities, which supported administrative and support functions, and some sales functions, were identified for consolidation based upon the
termination of certain personnel discussed above and the relocation of other personnel into other existing Avnet facilities. The IT-related charges resulted
from management’s review of certain capitalized systems and hardware as part of the integration effort. A substantial portion of this write-off, which was
recorded in the first quarter of fiscal 2006, relates to mainframe hardware that was scrapped due to the purchase of new, higher capacity hardware to handle
the increased capacity needs with the addition of Memec. Similarly, certain capitalized IT assets were written off when they became redundant either to other
acquired systems or new systems under development in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 as a result of the acquisition of Memec. Other charges in the six months
ended December 31, 2005 related primarily to certain contract and lease termination charges associated with the redundant employees identified in TS
EMEA.

      The asset impairment charges relate to two owned facilities, one in EMEA and one in the Americas, that Avnet has vacated. The write-down to fair value
was based upon management’s estimates of the current market values and possible selling price, net of selling costs, for these properties.

22



Table of Contents

AVNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

      The restructuring charges are presented on the consolidated statement of operations as a separate component of operating expenses, with the exception of
the charge to cost of sales for inventory write-downs for terminated lines. Of the total amounts recorded to expense during the six months ended
December 31, 2005, $12,945,000 represented non-cash write-downs, which consisted primarily of the charge to cost of sales and the previously discussed
write-down to fair value of the owned facilities in EMEA and the Americas. The remaining charges in the six months ended December 31, 2005 required or
will require the use of cash, of which $9,522,000 was paid during the six months ended December 31, 2005.

      As of December 31, 2005, remaining reserves related to the restructuring actions taken in the first half of fiscal 2006 total $8,118,000, of which
$5,037,000 relates to severance reserves, the majority of which management expects to utilize before the end of fiscal 2006, facility exit costs of $2,534,000,
the majority of which management expects to utilized by fiscal 2010, and other costs of $547,000, the majority of which management expects to utilize by
2009.

      Also resulting from the Memec acquisition and its subsequent integration into Avnet, the Company incurred certain costs during the second quarter of
fiscal 2006, amounting to $9,255,000 pre-tax, $6,097,000 after tax or $0.04 per share on a diluted basis. Including activity during the first quarter of fiscal
2006, integration costs during the six months ended December 31, 2005 totaled $15,717,000 pre-tax, $10,799,000 after-tax and $0.07 per share on a diluted
basis. The integration costs relate to incremental salary costs, primarily of Memec personnel, who were retained by Avnet for extended periods following the
close of the acquisition, solely to assist in the integration of Memec’s IT systems, administrative and logistics operations into those of Avnet. These identified
personnel have no other meaningful day-to-day operational responsibilities outside of the integration effort. Also included in integration costs are certain
professional fees, travel, meeting, marketing and communication costs that were incrementally incurred solely related to the Memec integration efforts.
Integration costs are presented on the consolidated statement of operations as a separate component of operating expenses. All integration costs represent
amounts incurred and paid during the second quarter of fiscal 2006.

Fiscal 2004 and 2003

      During fiscal 2004 and 2003, the Company recorded a number of restructuring charges which related to the reorganization of operations in each of the
three major regions of the world in which the Company operates, generally taken in response to business conditions at the time of the charge and as part of the
efforts of the Company to return to the profitability levels enjoyed by the business prior to the industry and economic downturn that commenced in fiscal
2001.

      The following table summarizes the activity during the six months ended December 31, 2005 in the remaining accrued liability and reserve accounts in
these prior year restructuring reserves:
                      

    Facility       
  Severance  Exit  IT-Related     
  Costs  Costs  Costs  Other  Total
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  (Thousands)
Balance at July 2, 2005  $ 1,419  $ 10,477  $ 111  $ 351  $ 12,358 
 Amounts utilized   (256)   (2,662)   —   (1)   (2,919)
 Adjustments   (7)   139   (108)   —   24 
 Other, principally foreign currency translation   (24)   (133)   (3)   —   (160)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Balance at December 31, 2005  $ 1,132  $ 7,821  $ —  $ 350  $ 9,303 
                

      The Company expects to utilize the majority of the remaining reserves for severance costs by the end of fiscal 2006. The Company expects to utilize most
of the remaining reserves for contractual lease commit-
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ments, shown under Facility Exit Costs above, by the end of fiscal 2007, although a small portion of the remaining reserves relate to lease payouts that extend
as late as fiscal 2010. The other remaining reserves relate primarily to remaining contractual commitments, the majority of which the Company expects to
utilize during fiscal 2006.

      Included in adjustments for the six months ended December 31, 2005 is a reversal of $118,000, which was recorded through restructuring and other
charges in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. The reversal relates primarily to a reserve established in TS EMEA prior to fiscal 2006 for
a long-term maintenance contract that expired in fiscal 2006. Therefore, the remaining reserves were deemed excessive and reversed. Also included in
adjustments is an addition to Facility Exit Costs related to an overpayment made on a long-term lease obligation on a vacated property in EMEA. The
overpayment was refunded to the Company but was added back to the reserve as the amount will still be paid back to the lessor over the remaining term of the
lease contract.

14. Subsequent Event

      During the second quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company announced two transactions, both of which closed subsequent to December 31, 2005 and both of
which relate to the TS business in the Americas. First, the Company has agreed to contribute the net assets of its Avnet Enterprise Solutions (“AES”) business
in the Americas, plus some cash, into a joint venture with Calence, Inc. in exchange for an investment in the joint venture, called Calence LLC. AES
specializes in selling network lifecycle solutions directly to end-users and represents less than $200 million annual sales for Avnet. Avnet’s equity investment
in Calence LLC will be recorded under the equity method. This transaction closed in February 2006.

      Avnet also announced an agreement to sell its US-based business focused on the sale of Hewlett Packard enterprise products to end users to Logicalis, Inc.
Concurrent with that transaction, TS Americas and Logicalis entered into an exclusive distribution agreement whereby Logicalis will procure all of its HP and
IBM enterprise computing products from Avnet for a five-year contract period. Sales over the five year contract period to Logicalis are expected to exceed
$1 billion. The sale to Logicalis for approximately $12 million closed in January 2006.

      Neither of these transactions is expected to have a material impact on Avnet’s third quarter fiscal 2006 operating results.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

      For a description of the Company’s critical accounting policies and an understanding of the significant factors that influenced the Company’s performance
during the quarters ended December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005, this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements, including the related notes, appearing in Item 1 of this
Report, as well as the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 2, 2005.

      There are numerous references to the impact of foreign currency translation in the discussion of the Company’s results of operations that follow. Over the
past several years, the exchange rates between the US Dollar and many foreign currencies, especially the Euro, have fluctuated significantly. For example, the
US Dollar has strengthened against the Euro by approximately 2.6% when comparing the second quarter of fiscal 2006 to the first quarter of fiscal 2006. On a
year-over-year basis (second quarter fiscal 2006 compared to second quarter fiscal 2005), the US Dollar has strengthened against the Euro by approximately
9.2%. When the stronger US Dollar exchange rates of the current year are used to translate the results of operations of Avnet’s subsidiaries denominated in
foreign currencies, the resulting impact is a decrease, in US Dollars, of reported results. In the discussion that follows, this is referred to as the translation
impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

      In addition to disclosing financial results that are determined in accordance with US generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), the Company
also discloses certain non-GAAP financial information such as income or expense items as adjusted for the impact of foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations, as discussed above. Management believes that providing this additional information is useful to the reader to better assess and understand
operating performance, especially when comparing results with previous periods or forecasting performance for future periods, primarily because
management typically monitors the business both including and excluding these adjustments to GAAP results. Management also uses the non-GAAP
measures to establish operational goals and, in some cases, for measuring performance for compensation purposes.

      As further discussed in the Overview below, during the first quarter of fiscal 2006, Avnet completed the acquisition of Memec Group Holdings Limited
(“Memec”), a global distributor that markets and sells a portfolio of semiconductor devices from industry-leading suppliers, in addition to providing
customers with engineering expertise and design services. Memec recorded sales of $2.28 billion in the twelve months prior to the July 5, 2005 close of the
acquisition, which makes this Avnet’s largest acquisition to date, based on sales. The consideration paid for the Memec acquisition consisted of stock and cash
valued at approximately $506.3 million, including transaction costs, plus the assumption of $240.0 million of Memec’s net debt (debt less cash acquired). All
but $27.3 million of this acquired net debt was repaid upon the closing of the acquisition. Under the terms of the purchase, Memec investors received
24.011 million shares of Avnet common stock plus $64.0 million of cash. The shares of Avnet common stock were valued at $17.42 per share, which
represents the five-day average stock price beginning two days before the acquisition announcement on April 26, 2005.

      Within this MD&A, management occasionally discusses certain prior year sales of Avnet combined with the historical results of Memec for the
corresponding period. Although the Memec acquisition is accounted for as a purchase business combination and, therefore, the results of Memec are only
included in Avnet’s results subsequent to the July 5, 2005 close of the acquisition, management believes that comparative analysis of sales to historical
periods, as if Memec were a part of Avnet’s operations, helps investors relate current year results to historical periods prior to the close of the acquisition.
Management uses similar pro forma data to analyze performance for internal operational goal setting and performance management. Furthermore, the
combined results of Avnet and Memec in prior periods provide one of the bases by which management evaluates its achievement of synergy targets resulting
from the merger as discussed further herein. In the discussion that follows, mention of Avnet and Memec or Electronics Marketing and Memec combined data
is referred to as pro forma combined results.
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      Analysis of results and outlook on a non-GAAP basis should be used as a complement to, and in conjunction with, data presented in accordance with
GAAP.

OVERVIEW

Organization

      Avnet, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company” or “Avnet”) is the world’s largest industrial distributor, based on sales, of electronic components,
enterprise computer products and embedded subsystems. Avnet creates a vital link in the technology supply chain that connects over 300 of the world’s
leading electronic component and computer product manufacturers and software developers as a single source for multiple products for a global customer
base of over 100,000 original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), contract manufacturers, original design manufacturers, value-added resellers (“VARs”)
and end-users. Avnet distributes electronic components, computer products and software as received from its suppliers or with assembly or other value added
by Avnet. Additionally, Avnet provides engineering design, materials management and logistics services, system integration and configuration, and supply
chain advisory services.

      The Company consists of two operating groups — Electronics Marketing (“EM”) and Technology Solutions (“TS”) — each with operations in the three
major economic regions of the world: the Americas, EMEA (Europe, Middle East and Africa) and Asia/ Pacific. A brief summary of each operating group is
provided below:

 • EM markets and sells semiconductors and interconnect, passive and electromechanical devices, and also offers an array of value-added services to its
customers, such as supply-chain management, engineering design, inventory replenishment systems, connector and cable assembly and semiconductor
programming. EM markets and sells its products and services to a diverse customer base spread across end-markets including communications,
computer hardware and peripheral, industrial and manufacturing, medical equipment, and military and aerospace. The previously discussed acquisition
of Memec is being fully integrated into EM. As of December 31, 2005, a substantial portion of the integration has already been completed as EM has
finalized the organizational structure within each region. The Company has also completed the integration of all key information technology in all
regions, with the exception of the Memec systems in Japan, which will be fully converted to Avnet systems prior to the end of fiscal 2006. The majority
of real estate and personnel decisions have also been completed with substantially all remaining actions expected to be finalized before the end of fiscal
2006. The acquisition of Memec provides for expansion of EM in each of the three major economic regions as well as allowing Avnet to gain entry into
the Japanese market, the only major semiconductor market in which Avnet did not previously have a presence.

 

 • TS markets and sells mid- to high-end servers, data storage, software and networking solutions, and the services required to implement these solutions,
to the VAR channel and enterprise computing customers. TS also focuses on the worldwide OEM market for computing technology, system integrators
and non-PC OEMs that require embedded systems and solutions including engineering, product prototyping, integration and other value-added
services.

Results of Operations

Executive Summary

      The acquisition of Memec on July 5, 2005 has had notable impacts on the financial results in fiscal 2006, including significant revenue growth in the EM
business and for Avnet as a whole, when compared to prior periods. The integration of Memec into Avnet’s ongoing operations has also had a significant
positive impact on the Company’s profitability in fiscal 2006. These impacts are further described in detail throughout this MD&A.

      Avnet’s consolidated sales in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 were $3.76 billion, up 30.4% over the second quarter of fiscal 2005 sales of $2.88 billion.
The Memec acquisition is the most significant reason for
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this year-over-year growth. Consolidated sales for the second quarter of fiscal 2006 were up 9.6% as compared with the Avnet and Memec pro forma
combined sales in the second quarter of fiscal 2005, which totaled $3.43 billion. See Sales for further detail of the prior year quarter including Memec’s sales
on a pro forma basis. Sequentially, Avnet’s consolidated sales increased by 15.0% over the first quarter of fiscal 2006 sales of $3.27 billion.

      The second quarter of fiscal 2006 was the twelfth consecutive quarter for year-over-year growth in consolidated sales for Avnet. The year-over-year
growth in the current year second quarter was driven by both operating groups. EM sales in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 totaled $2.26 billion, which is an
increase of 52.7% as compared to second quarter of fiscal 2005 (11.5% increase on a pro forma combined basis) and a sequential improvement over the first
quarter of fiscal 2006 of 6.9%. All three geographic regions contributed to this growth as EM exited a somewhat weaker than normal summer season in the
first quarter of the current fiscal year. The Asia region exhibited the most strength for EM, with 87.9% year-over-year sales growth (26.0% on a pro forma
combined basis) and 15.4% sequential growth. Asia continues to be the highest growth region for EM, with the current quarter growth primarily a function of
strong seasonal demand for digital consumer products. The Americas and EMEA regions also had meaningful growth both year-over-year and sequentially,
driven primarily by strengthening in these regions’ industrial segments. TS, which normally has a strong December quarter resulting from the typical
calendar-year budgeting cycle of its primary customer base, yielded record quarterly sales of $1.50 billion in the second quarter of fiscal 2006. This strong
performance represented an increase in sales of 6.9% as compared to TS results for the second quarter of fiscal 2005 and a 29.8% sequential improvement as
compared with the first quarter of the current fiscal year. The strength of TS business is derived most significantly from a continued strong performance by its
enterprise computing businesses worldwide. Enterprise computing sales improved by 21.2%, when comparing calendar year 2005 to calendar year 2004. TS
also has grown its software and storage sales year-over-year, both of which have outpaced growth in hardware sales.

      With the improvement in sales performance being one of the driving forces, gross profit in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 has increased substantially
over the prior year. However, gross profit margins have declined to 12.3% in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 (which includes a $7.5 million, or 0.2% of
sales, impact of charges related to the Company’s termination of certain supplier product lines) as compared with gross profit margins of 13.0% in the second
quarter of fiscal 2005. A number of factors contributed to this decline in gross profit margins. First, Avnet’s geographic mix of business, resulting in part from
the Memec acquisition, can have a significant impact on consolidated gross profit margins. The Asia region, particularly in EM’s business, has continued to
grow, representing 18.2% of Avnet’s consolidated sales in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 as compared with 13.2% in the prior year second quarter. EM
Asia typically yields lower gross profit margin, but also a much lower level of operating costs and higher asset velocity than the other geographic regions.
Competitive pricing pressures, most notably in EM’s business, and a higher percentage of lower margin software sales in the TS business also contributed to
the decrease in the gross profit margins.

      The year-over-year decline in gross profit margins was more than offset by improvement in key operating expense metrics in the second quarter of fiscal
2006. Although selling, general and administrative expenses increased in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 as compared with the second quarter of fiscal
2005, these expenses as a percentage of sales and as a percentage of gross profit have improved substantially. Selling, general and administrative expenses
were 9.1% of sales and 73.9% of gross profit in the second quarter of fiscal 2006. These metrics were 10.1% and 77.5%, respectively, in the second quarter of
fiscal 2005. The significant improvement in these key metrics has resulted primarily from the Company’s success to date in executing its integration strategy
with respect to the Memec acquisition. The integration is progressing on schedule and management estimates that actions had been completed by the end of
the second quarter of fiscal 2006 to remove over $100 million of annualized operating expenses, or $25 million on a quarterly basis, from the ongoing
operations of the combined Avnet and Memec business. Management also projects that the full $150 million of annualized synergies that were earlier
disclosed will still be achieved by the Company prior to the end of fiscal 2006.
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      During the second quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company incurred restructuring and other charges and integration costs totaling $32.4 million pre-tax,
$21.4 million after tax and $0.14 per share on a diluted basis, related primarily to the integration of Memec and the restructuring of the existing business to
accommodate the merger. Additionally, the Company incurred incremental stock-based compensation costs during the second quarter of fiscal 2006 totaling
$4.0 million pre-tax, $2.6 million after tax and $0.02 per share on a diluted basis associated with a change in accounting rules adopted in fiscal 2006 and
enhancement to other existing share-based compensation programs. Although these collective items negatively affected the current quarter’s profitability, the
Company still managed to grow second quarter operating income, income before taxes and net income on a year-over-year basis.

Sales

      The table below provides period sales for the Company and its operating groups, including comparative analysis of the Company’s sales for the second
quarter of fiscal 2006 with the Company’s sales for historical periods combined, on a pro forma basis, with the sales of Memec for the comparable period:
                              

          Year Over
        Q2-Fiscal ’05  Year Change
        

 
 

 

      Sequential    Avnet-Memec    Pro
  Q2-Fiscal ’06  Q1-Fiscal ’06  Change  Avnet  Pro Forma (1)  Avnet  Forma
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  (Dollars in thousands)
Avnet, Inc.  $3,759,112  $3,268,265   15.0%  $2,883,155  $3,429,346   30.4%  9.6%
 EM   2,257,326   2,111,113   6.9   1,478,189   2,024,380   52.7   11.5 
 TS   1,501,786   1,157,152   29.8   1,404,966   1,404,966   6.9   6.9 
EM                             
 Americas  $ 931,286  $ 886,665   5.0%  $ 595,082  $ 837,422   56.5%  11.2%
 EMEA   704,426   685,820   2.7   552,370   693,554   27.5   1.6 
 Asia   621,614   538,628   15.4   330,737   493,404   87.9   26.0 
TS                             
 Americas  $1,025,488  $ 802,136   27.8%  $ 933,896  $ 933,896   9.8%  9.8%
 EMEA   412,151   288,814   42.7   422,336   422,336   (2.4)   (2.4)
 Asia   64,147   66,202   (3.1)   48,734   48,734   31.6   31.6 
Totals by Region                             
 Americas  $1,956,774  $1,688,801   15.9%  $1,528,978  $1,771,318   28.0%  10.5%
 EMEA   1,116,577   974,634   14.6   974,706   1,115,890   14.6   0.1 
 Asia   685,761   604,830   13.4   379,471   542,138   80.7   26.5 
 

(1) The Avnet-Memec pro forma results in the table above reflect the combination of Avnet’s sales with Memec’s sales as provided in the table below for
the comparable historical period:

      

  Q2 Fiscal ’05
   

  (Thousands)
Americas  $242,340 
EMEA   141,184 
Asia   162,667 
     

 Memec total  $546,191 
     

      Consolidated sales in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 were $3.76 billion, up $876.0 million, or 30.4%, as compared with second quarter fiscal 2005 sales
of $2.88 billion. Including $546.2 million of Memec historical sales in the second quarter of the prior year, the current quarter sales increased by 9.6% as
compared with the pro forma combined sales in Avnet’s first quarter fiscal 2005. The year-over-year increase in sales would have been approximately
$100 million higher if not for the translation impact of changes in foreign currency
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exchange rates. The second quarter of fiscal 2006 marks the twelfth consecutive quarter of year-over-year growth in consolidated quarterly sales. The growth
was driven by both operating groups with TS posting a quarterly record for sales in the second quarter of fiscal 2006. EM achieved its highest quarterly sales
since fiscal 2001 and a record for quarterly sales per average employee, which is one indicator of the efficiencies already garnered in the business through
management of profitability and the successful integration of Memec, further discussed in this MD&A.

      Sequentially, consolidated sales in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 were up $490.8 million, or 15.0%, as compared with the first quarter of fiscal 2006.
This sequential increase would have been approximately $520 million, or 16.0%, after excluding the translation impact of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. The first quarter of Avnet’s fiscal year typically exhibits softening demand coming out of the summer season. Furthermore, TS normally
experiences its highest quarterly revenues in the December quarter based on the budgeting cycles of many of its customers. Based on these factors,
management anticipated that sales would grow sequentially in the second quarter of fiscal 2006. However, the record quarterly performance by TS coupled
with a significantly stronger than anticipated performance for EM yielded a sequential increase in sales well above expectations.

      EM sales of $2.26 billion in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 were up $779.1 million, or 52.7%, as compared with sales of $1.48 billion in the prior year
second quarter. While the acquisition of Memec was certainly the most significant contributor to this growth, EM sales grew 11.5% year-over-year as
compared with sales for the second quarter of fiscal 2005 on a pro forma combined basis. Additionally, the percentage year-over-year increase on a reported
basis and on a pro forma combined basis would have been approximately 57.4% and 14.9%, respectively, after removing the translation impact of changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. Sequentially, EM sales for the second quarter of fiscal 2006 increased by 6.9% (7.9% after adjustment for the translation
impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates between the two periods) as compared with the first quarter of fiscal 2006. On a global basis, customer
attrition, which has been minimal following the acquisition of Memec, has been offset by cross-selling opportunities within the Avnet and Memec customer
bases.

      The year-over-year and sequential improvements for EM were driven by growth across all three regions as EM emerged from a slightly softer than normal
end to the summer season in the September quarter by exhibiting greater than expected growth in the December quarter. The Asia region demonstrated the
most strength with sales of $621.6 million, constituting year-over-year sales growth of 87.9% (26.0% on a pro forma combined basis) and sequential growth
of 15.4%. Avnet’s second fiscal quarter is a typically strong quarter for the Asia region, but stronger than normal seasonal demand for digital consumer
products in the Asia marketplace led to the significant growth in the second quarter of fiscal 2006. In contrast, the second quarter of Avnet’s fiscal year
typically yields a downward seasonal trend for the EM business in the Americas and EMEA regions, largely as a result of the end of quarter holiday season.
However, the Americas and EMEA regions also exhibited second quarter growth on both a year-over-year basis and sequentially. Sales for EM Americas of
$931.3 million were up 56.5% as compared with the second quarter of fiscal 2005 (11.2% on a pro forma combined basis) and were up 5.0% sequentially
from the first quarter of fiscal 2006. This growth was primarily in EM Americas’ non-consumer segments of the technology supply chain. Even more
encouraging following a weaker than anticipated first fiscal quarter for the EMEA region was the emergence of this region in the second quarter of fiscal
2006 with reported sales of $704.4 million. This represents an increase of 27.5% over the second quarter of fiscal 2005 (1.6% on a pro forma combined basis)
and 2.7% as compared to the first quarter of fiscal 2006. Furthermore, there was a negative translation impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates
on the EM EMEA sales results. After adjustment for this impact, EM EMEA sales were up an estimated 39.2% year-over year (10.8% on a pro forma
combined basis) and, sequentially, sales were up an estimated 5.5%. This growth for EM EMEA was also bolstered by significant strength in the non-
consumer segments and a solid quarterly performance across the region. Positive book-to-bill figures exiting the second quarter of fiscal 2006 and entering
the typically strong third fiscal quarter for EM provide positive signs for continued growth of EM in the third quarter of fiscal 2006.

      TS reported sales of $1.50 billion in the second quarter of fiscal 2006, up $96.8 million, or 6.9%, as compared with the second quarter of fiscal 2005 and
up sequentially by $344.6 million, or 29.8%, as compared
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with the first quarter of fiscal 2006. After adjustment for the translation impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, the year-over-year growth and
the sequential growth in the second quarter were approximately 9.1% and 30.6%, respectively. TS sales for the second quarter of fiscal 2006 were a new
quarterly record for TS and the fifth consecutive quarter where TS has grown year-over-year sales. As noted previously, the December quarter is consistently
the strongest quarter for TS sales due to the calendar-year-based budgeting cycles of most TS customers. The TS enterprise computing business has been the
most significant driver of this growth with sales in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 increasing approximately 11% as compared with the second quarter of
fiscal 2005. Furthermore, the enterprise computing business has grown sales, when comparing calendar year 2005 to calendar year 2004, by more than 21%.
Software and storage sales have also continued to outpace hardware sales throughout substantially all of the TS operations globally.

      Regionally, TS Americas yielded the most positive results for TS, with the second quarter of fiscal 2006 yielding sales growth of 9.8% as compared with
the second quarter of fiscal 2005 and sales growth of 27.8% as compared with the first quarter of fiscal 2006. The positive trend in TS Americas is driven by
strength of the software and storage business. Sales for TS EMEA dropped slightly by 2.4% when compared with the second quarter of fiscal 2006. However,
the EMEA yielded growth for the computer products group of approximately 5.2% year-over-year after removing the translation impacts of changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. The enterprise computing business in EMEA was the major driver of this growth, although moderate year-over-year declines
across most of the non-enterprise computing business in EMEA somewhat tempered this overall growth. Sequentially, TS EMEA grew sales by 42.7%
(46.2% excluding the translation impacts of changes in foreign currency exchange rates), primarily on this same strength in the enterprise computing business
(which yielded more than a two-thirds sequential improvement in sales) and on the normally strong seasonality of the December quarter. The TS operations in
Asia continue to constitute the smallest portion of the TS global operations. TS Asia sales of $64.1 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 were up 31.6%
as compared with the second quarter of fiscal 2005 and down 3.1% sequentially. A sequential decline in TS sales can be expected in the third quarter of fiscal
2006 coming off of the record sales for the seasonally strong December quarter. However, based on management’s expectation of continued strength in the
enterprise computing market and in sales into the small- to medium-sized business segment, TS is expected to continue to yield growth in quarterly sales on a
year-over-year basis in the third quarter.

      On an overall regional basis, the Americas, EMEA and Asia regions all grew sales in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 on both a year-over-year basis and
on a sequential basis. The Americas, EMEA and Asia regions constituted 52.1%, 29.7% and 18.2%, respectively, of Avnet’s consolidated sales in the second
quarter of fiscal 2006. Asia has continued to be the most significant region for growth of Avnet’s overall business. The Asia region represented 13.2% of
Avnet’s consolidated sales in the second quarter of fiscal 2005. The single biggest factor driving the growth in Asia was the Memec acquisition, including the
Japanese market, which was the only major electronic component market where Avnet did not have a presence prior to the acquisition of Memec. However,
organic growth year-over-year, particularly in the electronics components markets, continues to be significant, as strong demand for digital consumer products
continues to drive consistent sales expansion. Management expects the Asia region will continue to be Avnet’s most significant growth opportunity, with the
enhancements Memec brought to Avnet’s already established position in the Peoples’ Republic of China, as well as the entrée into the Japan market,
positioning Avnet well to continue to capitalize in this high growth region.

      Consolidated sales for the first six months of fiscal 2006 were $7.03 billion, up $1.54 billion, or 28.2%, over sales of $5.48 billion in the first six months
of fiscal 2005. A significant portion of this year-over-year growth is a function of the Memec acquisition. Memec’s consolidated sales for the six months
ended in December 2004 were $1.13 billion. The year-to-date growth is a result of growth within both operating groups. Specifically, year-to-date sales for
EM in fiscal 2006 were $4.37 billion, up $1.33 billion, or 43.6% over the same six month period in fiscal 2006. Year-to-date sales for TS were $2.66 billion,
up $218.2 million, or 8.9%, as compared with sales of $2.44 billion for the first six months of fiscal 2005. The factors contributing to the growth of sales in
both operating groups are consistent with the quarterly sales analysis discussed above.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margins

      Avnet’s consolidated gross profits were $461.8 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2006, up $88.0 million, or 23.5%, as compared with the second
quarter of fiscal 2005. Furthermore, the gross profit in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 includes a charge totaling $7.5 million (0.2% of sales) to writedown
certain inventory for supplier terminations. See Restructuring and Other Charges and Integration Costs for further discussion of this charge. This growth in
gross profit dollars is entirely a result of the Memec acquisition and the other sales volume increases discussed previously in Sales. Gross profit margins in
the second quarter of fiscal 2006 were 12.3%. This represents a drop of 68 basis points from gross profit margins of 13.0% in the second quarter of fiscal
2005, although this comparison is impacted by the inventory line termination charge of approximately 0.2% of sales discussed above. The decline in gross
profit margins is primarily a function of three key factors. First, the geographic shift in Avnet’s business impacts margins. As noted previously, the Asia
region continues to grow significantly. The Asia region, particularly in EM, typically yields lower gross profit margins but also yields lower operating
expenses and higher asset velocity. Second, increased software sales in the TS business, which carry a lower gross profit margin, but also lower working
capital requirements, have also served to decrease margins within the TS business on a year-over-year basis. Lastly, continued competitive pricing throughout
the electronic component industry has served to further erode gross profit margins. This impact is exacerbated by the previously disclosed strategic business
decision by Xilinx, EM’s largest supplier, to begin transitioning a number of its strategic accounts to a direct design model in late fiscal 2005 and early fiscal
2006. As a result, Avnet has experienced a decrease in the percentage of higher gross margin design win business with Xilinx with a corresponding increase
in Xilinx-related revenues in the fulfillment model, which yields a lower gross profit margin. This strategic shift by Xilinx was largely completed by
December and is therefore not expected to continue to materially impact comparative margins as the Company exits calendar 2005. As Avnet exits the
seasonally strong December quarter for TS and enters the normally strong March quarter for EM, the inherent shift to the higher gross profit margin EM
business constituting a larger percentage of Avnet’s consolidated sales is expected to have a modest positive impact on gross profit margins in the third
quarter of fiscal 2006. Specifically, EM constituted 60.0% of Avnet’s consolidated business in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 as compared with 64.6% in
the first quarter of fiscal 2006. The first quarter ratio is likely more indicative of where the operating group business mix will fall in the non-calendar year-end
quarters going forward.

      Consolidated gross profit and gross profit margins for the first six months of fiscal 2006 were $885.1 million and 12.6%, respectively, including the
$7.5 million (0.1% of first six month sales) line termination charge discussed previously. In comparison, consolidated gross profit and gross profit margins for
the first six months of fiscal 2005 were $723.5 million and 13.2%, respectively. The 60 basis point drop in year-to-date gross profit margins in fiscal 2006 is
similarly a function of factors discussed above in the quarterly analysis.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

      Selling, general and administrative expenses in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 were $341.5 million. This represents an increase of $51.5 million, or
17.8%, as compared with the second quarter of fiscal 2005 selling, general and administrative expenses of $289.9 million. The increase in selling, general and
administrative expenses is a direct result of the expansion of the overall business following the first quarter fiscal 2006 acquisition of Memec. Further
impacting this year-over-year comparison is approximately $4.0 million (0.1% of sales) of incremental stock-based compensation expense further discussed
below. Management estimates that the year-over-year increase in selling, general and administrative expense was approximately $62.7 million after
adjustment for the translation impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

      An important metric by which management monitors selling, general and administrative expenses is as a percentage of sales and as a percentage of gross
profit. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of sales and gross profit were 9.1% and 73.9%, respectively, in the second quarter of fiscal
2006. This compares with ratios of 10.1% and 77.5%, respectively, in the prior year second quarter. Both of these metrics in the current quarter are impacted
by the incremental stock-based compensation expense and selling, general and administrative expenses in the current quarter are further impacted by the
previously discussed
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$7.5 million line termination charge (see Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margins for further discussion). The significant year-over-year improvement in both of
these metrics is a result of the Company’s ongoing focus on managing levels of operating costs through its various value-based management initiatives. This
comparison is more significantly impacted, however, by the Company’s realization of operating expense synergies following the acquisition of Memec.
Management has previously disclosed its expectation that approximately $150 million of annualized operating expenses would be removed from the
combined Avnet and Memec businesses once the integration of Memec is completed. The integration efforts to date are progressing on schedule and
management estimates that actions to remove more than $100 million of annualized operating expense synergies, or $25 million per quarter, were completed
by the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2006. The remaining $50 million of annualized operating expense synergies are still anticipated to be removed from
the ongoing business by the end of fiscal 2006. As the integration efforts continue, management expects continued improvement in selling, general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of gross profit through the remainder of fiscal 2006. As discussed further in Organization in this MD&A, the majority
of the remaining integration efforts relate to Avnet’s EMEA and Asia operations, as the integration in the Americas was substantially complete by the end of
the first quarter of fiscal 2006.

      The first quarter of fiscal 2006 represented the first period in which the Company was required to adopt the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123R (“SFAS 123R”), Share-Based Payment. SFAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of
employee stock options, to be measured at fair value and expensed in the statement of operations. The impact of adopting SFAS 123R, coupled with
additional compensation expense associated with increased grants under some of the Company’s non-option, stock-based compensation programs, resulted in
$4.0 million of incremental expense during the second quarter of fiscal 2006 when compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2005.

      Selling, general and administrative expenses for the first six months of fiscal 2006 were $680.2 million, or 9.7% of consolidated sales, as compared with
$566.4 million, or 10.3% of consolidated sales, in the first six months of the prior year. Selling, general and administrative expenses were 76.9% and 78.3%,
respectively, of gross profit in the first six months of fiscal 2006 and 2005. While the growth in selling, general and administrative expenses year-over-year is
primarily a function of the Memec acquisition, the notable improvement in selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of sales and gross
profits is a function of the same cost reduction efforts and successful synergy realization through the Memec acquisition as discussed above.

Restructuring and Other Charges and Integration Costs

      During the second quarter and six months ended December 31, 2005, the Company incurred certain restructuring and other charges and integration costs
primarily as a result of the acquisition of Memec on July 5, 2005, which is being integrated into the Company’s existing Electronic Marketing operations in
all three regions. As a result of the acquisition integration efforts, the Company established and approved plans to restructure certain of Avnet’s existing
operations to accommodate the merger of the two businesses. Unrelated to the Memec integration, the Company also incurred charges relating to certain cost
reduction actions taken by TS in the EMEA region and for the write-down of certain owned assets.

      The restructuring and other charges incurred during the second quarter of fiscal 2006 totaled $23.2 million pre-tax and $15.3 million after-tax, or
$0.10 per share on a diluted basis. Of this total pre-tax charge, $7.5 million related to inventory write-downs associated with certain terminated inventory
lines. This portion of the pre-tax charge was included in cost of sales in the consolidated statement of operations. The remaining second quarter pre-tax charge
of $15.6 million, which is included in restructuring and other charges in the consolidated statement of operations, consisted of $9.8 million for severance
costs, facility exit costs of $2.3 and $0.9 million for other charges. Restructuring and other charges in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 also include
impairment charges related to two owned but vacant Avnet buildings totaling $2.7 million. Finally, a reversal of $0.1 million in excess remaining reserves
recorded in prior fiscal years was recorded through restructuring and other charges.
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      The restructuring and other charges incurred during the six months ended December 31, 2005 totaled $30.5 million pre-tax and $20.6 million after-tax, or
$0.14 per share on a diluted basis. The pre-tax charges consisted of inventory write-downs for terminated lines amounting to $7.5 million and recorded
through cost of sales in the consolidated statement of operations. The remaining pre-tax charge of $23.0 million, which was included in restructuring and
other charges in the consolidated statement of operations, includes $13.9 million for severance costs, facility exit costs of $3.1 million, $2.3 million for the
write-down of certain capitalized IT-related initiatives, and $1.1 million for other charges. Restructuring and other charges for the six months ended
December 31, 2005 also include the previously discussed impairment charges of $2.7 million related to two vacated Avnet facilities and a reversal of
$0.1 million of excess reserves recorded prior to fiscal 2006.

      The charge for terminated inventory lines relates to a strategic decision during the second quarter of fiscal 2006 to exit certain lines of inventory within
EM in the Americas. As a result, management recorded a write-down of the related inventory on hand to fair market value due to the lack of stock rotation
and other contractual return privileges once a line is terminated by Avnet. Severance charges incurred during the first and second quarter of fiscal 2006 related
to work force reductions of over 200 personnel primarily in administrative and support functions in the EMEA and Americas regions. The majority of the
positions eliminated were Avnet personnel that were deemed redundant by management with the merger of Memec into Avnet and also includes a small
number of primarily administrative staff in TS’s operations in EMEA who were identified as redundant based upon the realignment of certain job functions in
that region. The facility exit charges relate to liabilities for remaining non-cancelable lease obligations and the write-down of property, plant and equipment at
two facilities in the Americas. The facilities, which supported administrative and support functions, and some sales functions, were identified for
consolidation based upon the termination of certain personnel discussed above and the relocation of other personnel into other existing Avnet facilities. The
IT-related charges resulted from management’s review of certain capitalized systems and hardware as part of the integration effort. A substantial portion of
this write-off, which was recorded in the first quarter of fiscal 2006, relates to mainframe hardware that was scrapped due to the purchase of new, higher
capacity hardware to handle the increased capacity needs with the addition of Memec. Similarly, certain capitalized IT assets were written off when they
became redundant either to other acquired systems or new systems under development in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 as a result of the acquisition of
Memec. Other charges in the six months ended December 31, 2005 related primarily to certain contract and lease termination charges associated with the
redundant employees identified in TS EMEA.

      The asset impairment charges relate to two owned facilities, one in EMEA and one in the Americas, that Avnet has vacated. The write-down to fair value
was based upon management’s estimates of current market values and possible selling price, net of costs to sell, for these properties.

      The restructuring and other charges are presented on the consolidated statement of operations as a separate component of operating expenses, with the
exception of the charge to cost of sales for inventory write-downs for terminated lines. Of the total amounts recorded to expense during the six months ended
December 31, 2005, $12.9 million represented non-cash write-downs, which consisted primarily of the charge to cost of sales and the previously discussed
write-down to fair value of certain owned assets in EMEA and the Americas. The remaining charges in the six months ended December 31, 2005 required or
will require the use of cash, of which $9.5 million was paid during the six months ended December 31, 2005.

      Also resulting from the Memec acquisition and its subsequent integration into Avnet, the Company incurred certain costs during the second quarter of
fiscal 2006, amounting to $9.3 million pre-tax, $6.1 million after tax or $0.04 per share on a diluted basis. Including activity during the first quarter of fiscal
2006, integration costs during the six months ended December 31, 2005 totaled $15.7 million pre-tax, $10.8 million after-tax and $0.07 per share on a diluted
basis. The integration costs relate to incremental salary costs, primarily of Memec personnel, who were retained by Avnet for extended periods following the
close of the acquisition, solely to assist in the integration of Memec’s IT systems, administrative and logistics operations into those of Avnet. These identified
personnel have no other meaningful day-to-day operational responsibilities outside of the integration effort. Also included in integration costs are certain
professional fees, travel, meeting, marketing and communication costs that were incrementally incurred solely related to the Memec integration efforts.
Integration costs are presented on the consolidated statement of operations as a separate
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component of operating expenses. All integration costs represent amounts incurred and paid during the second quarter of fiscal 2006.

      As of December 31, 2005, remaining reserves related to the restructuring actions taken in the first half of fiscal 2006 total $8.1 million, of which
$5.0 million relates to severance reserves, the majority of which management expects to utilize before the end of fiscal 2006, facility exit costs of
$2.5 million, the majority of which management expects to utilized by fiscal 2010, and other costs of $0.6 million, the majority of which management expects
to utilize by 2009.

      As of December 31, 2005, the Company also had certain reserves remaining related to restructuring actions taken in earlier years. Total remaining reserves
related to these actions were $9.3 million at the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2006. Included in these remaining reserves are $1.1 million for severance
costs, the majority of which management expects to utilize by the end of fiscal 2006. The remaining reserve balance also included $7.8 million for remaining
contractual lease commitments, the majority of which will be utilized by the end of fiscal 2007, although a small portion of the remaining reserves relate to
lease payouts that extend as late as fiscal 2010. Finally, there were $0.4 million of other reserves, related primarily to remaining contractual commitments, the
majority of which the Company expects to utilize during fiscal 2006.

      While the above charges related to Avnet personnel, facilities and operations, and are therefore recorded through Avnet’s consolidated statements of
operations as restructuring and other charges, the Company also recorded numerous purchase accounting adjustments during the first half of fiscal 2006
related to the acquired personnel and operations of Memec. These adjustments are generally recorded as part of the allocation of purchase price and,
therefore, are not recorded in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations. During the first half of fiscal 2006, the Company established and approved
plans to integrate the acquired operations into all three regions of the Company’s EM operations, for which the Company recorded $99.2 million in purchase
accounting adjustments. These purchase accounting items consist primarily of $28.7 million for severance for Memec workforce reductions of over 700
personnel (including senior management, administrative, finance and certain operational functions) primarily in the Americas and EMEA; $29.5 million for
lease and other contract termination costs and write-downs in value of three Memec owned facilities in EMEA; $18.2 million for write-offs or write-downs in
value of certain Memec owned information technology assets, primarily in the Americas; and $22.8 million in other items which consist primarily of the
write-down of inventory to net realizable value approximately half of which impacts the Americas. Of these purchase accounting adjustments recorded in the
first half of fiscal 2006, $23.1 million was paid out in cash during the first half of fiscal 2006 and $44.2 million were non-cash write-downs, leaving
$31.7 million of remaining reserves, primarily related to severance, which are expected to be substantially paid out before the end of fiscal 2007, and lease
commitment reserves, for which payments will extend into fiscal 2008.

Operating Income

      As a result of the factors discussed previously in this MD&A, operating income for the second quarter of fiscal 2006 was $95.5 million (2.5% of
consolidated sales) as compared with operating income of $84.0 million (2.9% of consolidated sales) in the second quarter of fiscal 2005. However, the
results for the second quarter of fiscal 2006 were negatively impacted by $32.4 million (0.9% of consolidated sales) of restructuring and other charges and
integration costs resulting from the integration of Memec and by $4.0 million (0.1% of consolidated sales) of incremental stock-based compensation expense
in the current quarter. See Restructuring and Other Charges and Integration Costs and Selling, General and Administrative Expenses, respectively, for further
discussion of these charges. The overall improvement in operating income margin without these charges is driven by the increased sales volume, cost
management and successful Memec integration discussed previously in this MD&A.

      EM’s operating income in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 was $91.5 million, or 4.1% of EM’s sales, as compared with $47.4 million, or 3.2% of sales in
the second quarter of fiscal 2005. The 85 basis point improvement in this measure year-over-year is similarly a result of the increased volume resulting from
the Memec acquisition coupled with the rapid removal of operating costs from the combined businesses. In addition to posting record sales, TS also posted a
quarterly record for operating income dollars, propelled
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primarily by the higher sales volume, offset partially by the lower gross profit margins inherent with the growth of lower margin software sales discussed
previously. As a result, TS operating income in the current quarter, totaling $55.3 million, was up $4.1 million over operating income of $51.2 million in the
prior year second quarter. However, operating income as a percentage of TS sales remained essentially flat between the two quarters.

      Operating income for the six months ended December 31, 2005 was $166.2 million (2.4% of consolidated sales) as compared with operating income of
$157.0 million (2.9% of consolidated sales) in the first six months of fiscal 2005. Operating income for the first half of fiscal 2006 was negatively impacted
by $46.2 million (0.7% of consolidated sales) of restructuring and other charges and Memec integration costs as well as $7.8 million (0.1% of consolidated
sales) of incremental stock-based compensation costs.

Interest Expense and Other Income, net

      Interest expense for the second quarter of fiscal 2006 was $23.1 million, up $1.9 million, or 8.8%, from interest expense of $21.3 million in the second
quarter of fiscal 2006. The increase in interest expense in the current quarter is a result of higher short-term interest rates and higher borrowings on the
Company’s various bank credit facilities. The increased borrowings are a direct result of certain cash expended for the acquisition of Memec and other
charges in the past six months (see Liquidity and Capital Resources — Cash Flow for further discussion) as well increased borrowing needs primarily to fund
the normal second fiscal quarter growth of the TS operations as discussed previously. These two factors driving interest expense up are offset partially by the
favorable impact of the Company’s issuance of $250.0 million of 6.00% Notes due September 1, 2015 (the “6.00% Notes”) and repurchase of $254.1 million
of the Company’s higher rate 8.00% Notes due November 15, 2006 (the “8.00% Notes”) during the first quarter of fiscal 2006.

      Interest expense for the first six months of fiscal 2006 totaled $46.8 million as compared with $42.1 million for the comparable six month period in the
prior fiscal year. The increase in year-to-date interest expense is a result of the same factors discussed above. Additionally, because the first quarter 2006
tender offer for the repurchase of the 8.00% Notes was outstanding for approximately four weeks after the issuance of the 6.00% Notes, the Company was
effectively incurring duplicative interest on both of these bond issuances for a four week period. This duplicative interest expense amounts to approximately
$1.5 million pre-tax.

      Other income, net, was $3.0 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 as compared with $0.1 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2005. The current
year increase is driven primarily by higher interest income and lower foreign currency losses in the current year.

      Other income, net, was $4.8 million in the first six months of fiscal 2006 as compared with $0.4 million in the first six months of the prior year. In
addition to higher interest income on normal cash balances and more favorable foreign currency impacts in the current fiscal year, the Company also yielded
higher interest income by approximately $0.4 million earned on the investment of the net proceeds from the issuance of the 6.00% Notes during the four week
tender period for the 8.00% Notes discussed above.

Debt Extinguishment Costs

      As further described in Financing Transactions, the Company incurred debt extinguishment costs in the first six months of fiscal 2006 (incurred entirely
during the first fiscal quarter) associated with the repurchase of $254.1 million of the 8.00% Notes. The costs, which related primarily to premiums and other
transaction costs associated with the repurchase, totaled $11.7 million pre-tax, $7.1 million after tax or $0.05 per share on a diluted basis.

Income Tax Provision

      Avnet’s effective tax rate on its income before taxes for the second quarter and first six months of fiscal 2006 was 34.1% and 33.7%, respectively, as
compared with an effective tax rate of 30.8% for both the second quarter and first six months of fiscal 2005. The increase in effective rates in fiscal 2006 is a
function of the mix of profits, including the profits of the newly acquired Memec business, amongst the Company’s various
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international subsidiaries with varying statutory tax rates. The Company’s effective tax rate is also computed based upon projected mix of profits for the
remainder of the fiscal year. As such, management anticipates that the current 33.7% rate is a reasonable approximation of the effective tax rate for Avnet for
the remainder of fiscal 2006.

Net Income

      As a result of the operational performance and other factors discussed in the preceding sections of this MD&A, the Company’s consolidated net income
for the second quarter of fiscal 2006 was $49.6 million, or $0.34 per share on a diluted basis, as compared with net income of $43.5 million, or $0.36 per
share on a diluted basis, for the second quarter of fiscal 2005. The second quarter of fiscal 2006 was negatively impacted by restructuring and other charges
and integration costs totaling $21.4 million after tax, or $0.14 per share on a diluted basis, and by the incremental impact of stock-based compensation
totaling $2.6 million after tax, or $0.02 per share on a diluted basis. See Restructuring and Other Charges and Integration Costs and Selling, General and
Administrative Expenses for further discussion of these items.

      The Company’s net income for the first six months of fiscal 2006 was $74.5 million, or $0.51 per share on a diluted basis, as compared with net income
for the first six months of fiscal 2005 of $79.8 million, or $0.66 per share on a diluted basis. The first six months of fiscal 2006 were negatively impacted by a
total of $44.0 million after tax, or $0.30 per share on a diluted basis, related to (1) restructuring and other charges and integration costs totaling $31.4 million
after-tax, or $0.21 per share on a diluted basis, (2) debt extinguishment and duplicative net interest expense totaling $7.7 million after tax, or $0.05 per share
on a diluted basis, and (3) incremental stock-based compensation expense totaling $4.9 million after tax, or $0.04 per share on a diluted basis.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash Flow

      The following table summarizes the Company’s cash flow activity for the quarters and six month periods ended December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005,
including the Company’s computation of free cash flow and a reconciliation of this metric to the nearest GAAP measures of net income and net cash flow
from operations. Management’s computation of free cash flow consists of net cash flow from operations plus cash flows generated from or used for purchases
and sales of property, plant and equipment, acquisitions of operations, effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents and other financing activities.
Management believes that the non-GAAP metric of free cash flow is a useful measure to help management and investors better assess and understand the
Company’s operating performance and sources and uses of cash. Management also believes the analysis of free cash flow assists in identifying underlying
trends in the business. Computations of free cash flow may differ from company to company. Therefore, the analysis of free cash flow should be used as a
complement to, and in conjunction with, the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows presented in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

      Management also analyzes cash flow from operations based upon its three primary components noted in the table below: net income, non-cash and other
reconciling items and cash flow used for working capital. Similar to free cash flow, management believes that this breakout is an important measure to help
management and investors to understand the trends in the Company’s cash flows, including the impact of
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management’s focus on asset utilization and efficiency through its management of the net balance of receivables, inventories and accounts payable.
                    

  Second Quarters Ended  Six Months Ended
  

 
 

 

  December 31,  January 1,  December 31,  January 1,
  2005  2005  2005  2005
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  (Thousands)
Net income   $49,636   $43,510   $74,533   $79,841 
Non-cash and other reconciling items(1)   47,814   56,288   81,672   90,169 
Cash flow generated from working capital (excluding

cash and cash equivalents)(2)   (109,192)   145,222   (317,205)   67,767 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  Net cash flow (used for) provided from
operations   (11,742)   245,020   (161,000)   237,777 

Cash flow (used for) provided from:                 
 Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (10,918)   (9,494)   (24,067)   (15,740)

 
Cash proceeds from sales of property, plant and

equipment   1,337   6,338   1,629   6,797 
 Acquisition of operations, net   (6,032)   (60)   (304,022)   (1,105)

 
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash

equivalents   (1,498)   12,602   (2,537)   15,767 
 Other, net financing activities   1,510   335   23,579   184 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

   Net free cash flow   (27,343)   254,741   (466,418)   243,680 
Proceeds from (repayment of) debt, net   41,817   31,816   47,691   (9,324)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

   
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash

equivalents   $14,474   $286,557   $(418,727)   $234,356 
             

 

(1) Non-cash and other reconciling items are the combination of depreciation and amortization, deferred income taxes, non-cash restructuring and other
charges, and other, net (primarily the provision for doubtful accounts), in cash flows from operations.

 

(2) Cash flow used for working capital is the combination of the changes in the Company’s working capital and other balance sheet accounts in cash flows
from operations (receivables, inventories, accounts payable and accrued expenses and other, net).

      During the second quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company used $11.7 million of cash and cash equivalents for its operating activities as compared with cash
generation of $245.0 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2005. The use of cash and cash equivalents for operating activities in the second quarter of 2006 is
primarily a result of two factors: (1) the significant growth in receivables in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 and (2) the achievement of record inventory
turns and increase in accounts payable days in the second quarter of the current year — a factor that offsets, in part, the cash outflow associated with the
growth in receivables. Due to the record sales performance of TS during its normally seasonally strong December quarter as well as EM’s sales exceeding
expectations in the second quarter of the current fiscal year, there was a significant increase in receivables over the prior year second quarter and first half.
The higher receivable balance at December 31, 2005 will positively contribute to cash flow in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 when most of these receivables
will be collected. Partially offsetting the significant impact of the growth in receivables is the record inventory turns achieved in both EM and TS in the
second quarter of fiscal 2006, and an increase in accounts payable days, particularly in EM. These net movements in accounts payable and inventory balances
are largely a result of the high volume of sales activity in the December quarter, as well as a function of management’s continued focus on working capital
metrics. In addition, during the second quarter of the current year there were cash payments of approximately $28.6 million associated with Company’s
restructuring and other charges, and of

37



Table of Contents

amounts accrued through purchase accounting, as well as other integration costs incurred (see Notes 4 and 13 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements and Results of Operations — Restructuring and Other Charges and Integration Costs in this MD&A for further discussion of these items).

      During the first half of fiscal 2006, the Company used $161.0 million of cash and cash equivalents for operating activities compared to cash a inflow of
$237.8 million in the first half of fiscal 2005. In addition to the impact of trends in receivables, payables and inventory discussed above, the Company also
made an accelerated contribution to the Company’s pension plan during the first quarter of fiscal 2006, which amounted to $58.6 million. The six months
ended December 31, 2005 also included cash usage of approximately $48.4 million associated with the various restructuring and other charges and purchase
accounting adjustments, as well as integration costs during the period.

      The Company’s cash flows associated with investing activities included a higher level of capital expenditures during the first half of fiscal 2006, primarily
related to the new mainframe purchase and the ongoing development of one additional operating system to replace one of the systems that was disposed of as
part of the restructuring and other charges charge in the first quarter (see Results of Operations — Restructuring and Other Charges and Integration Costs for
further discussion). Also included in cash flows used in investing activities is approximately $298.3 million, used in the first half of fiscal 2006 ($1.2 million
in the second quarter of fiscal 2006), associated with the Company’s acquisition of Memec, including the retirement of substantially all of Memec’s debt at
the time of the acquisition (see Note 4 to the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion). Additionally, cash outflows for
acquisitions in the first half of fiscal 2006 includes $4.8 million (which was recorded in the second quarter) for the purchase of shares held by a minority
interest holder in one of the Company’s Israeli subsidiaries, and an additional earn-out payment (which was recorded in the first quarter) associated with a
small acquisition completed in fiscal 2005. Finally, the cash inflows from other net financing activities in both the second quarter and first half of fiscal 2006
relate primarily to cash received for stock option exercises and the associated tax benefit.

      As a result of the factors discussed above, the Company utilized free cash flow of $27.3 million and $466.4 million, respectively, in the second quarter and
first half of fiscal 2006 as compared with an inflow of $254.7 million and $243.7 million, respectively, in the second quarter and first half of fiscal 2005. The
Company also generated a net cash inflow of $41.8 million and $47.7 million, respectively, for the second quarter and first half of fiscal 2006, compared to a
net cash inflow of $31.8 million and a net cash outflow of $9.3 million from other debt-related activities in the second quarter and first half of fiscal 2005,
respectively. As part of the Company’s financing activities, the Company also utilized cash and cash equivalents of $19.3 million during the first half of fiscal
2006, primarily for premiums, transaction costs and other costs associated with the repurchase of a total of $256.2 million of the Company’s 8% Notes, the
majority of which was funded by the net proceeds from the issuance of the 6% Notes (see Financing Transactions). These results combined to yield a net
generation of cash of $14.5 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 and net usage of $418.7 million in the first half of fiscal 2006 as compared with a net
generation of cash of $286.6 million and $234.4 million, respectively, in the second quarter and first half of fiscal 2005.

Capital Structure and Contractual Obligations

      The following table summarizes the Company’s capital structure as of the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2006 with a comparison to fiscal 2005 year-
end:
                  

  December 31,  % of Total    % of Total
  2005  Capitalization  July 2, 2005  Capitalization
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  (Dollars in thousands)
Short-term debt  $ 288,452   7.4%  $ 61,298   1.8%
Long-term debt   1,020,930   26.1   1,183,195   35.4 
  

 
     

 
    

 Total debt   1,309,382   33.5   1,244,493   37.2 
Shareholders’ equity   2,600,037   66.5   2,097,033   62.8 
  

 
     

 
    

 Total capitalization  $ 3,909,419   100.0  $ 3,341,526   100.0 
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      Long-term debt in the above table includes the fair value adjustment of $9.5 million decreasing total debt and capitalization at December 31, 2005 and
$0.9 million increasing total debt and capitalization at July 2, 2005. This fair value adjustment is a result of the Company’s fair value hedges on its 8.00% and
93/4% Notes discussed in Financing Transactions below. The capitalization as of December 31, 2005 also reflects the impact of 24.0 million shares of Avnet
common stock issued to the former owners of Memec as part of the acquisition of Memec. The impact on the Company’s consolidated shareholders’ equity
related to this issuance is $418.2 million (see Note 4 to the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion).

      For a description of the Company’s long-term debt and lease commitments for the next five years and thereafter, see Long-Term Contractual Obligations
appearing in Item 7 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 2, 2005. With the exception of the Company’s debt transactions
and equity issuance discussed herein, there are no material changes to this information outside of normal lease payments, including the leases assumed with
the acquisition of Memec.

      The Company does not currently have any material commitments for capital expenditures.

Financing Transactions

      As of July 2, 2005, the Company had an unsecured $350.0 million credit facility with a syndicate of banks (the “Credit Facility”), expiring in June 2007.

      During the second quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company amended and restated the Credit Facility to, among other things, increase the borrowing capacity
from $350.0 million to $500.0 million, and increase the maximum amount of the total facility that can be used for letters of credit from $75.0 million to
$100.0 million (the “Amended Credit Facility”). In addition, the Amended Credit Facility has a five-year term that matures in October 2010. The Company
may still select from various interest rate options, currencies and maturities under the Amended Credit Facility. The Amended Credit Facility contains certain
covenants, all of which the Company was in compliance with as of December 31, 2005. There were no borrowings under the Amended Credit Facility at
December 31, 2005 or the Credit Facility at July 2, 2005.

      In August 2005, the Company also amended its accounts receivable securitization program to, among other things, increase the maximum available for
borrowing from $350.0 million to $450.0 million. In addition, the amended Program now provides that drawings under the facility no longer qualify as off-
balance sheet financing (see Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements). As a result, the receivables and related debt obligation will remain on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet when amounts are drawn under the Program. The amended Program has a one year term expiring in August 2006. There were no
drawings outstanding under the Program at December 31, 2005.

      In August 2005, the Company issued $250.0 million of 6.00% Notes due September 1, 2015 (the “6% Notes”). The proceeds from the offering, net of
discount and underwriting fees, were $246.5 million. The Company used these proceeds, plus cash and cash equivalents on hand, to fund the tender and
repurchase of $250.0 million of the 8.00% Notes due November 15, 2006 (the “8% Notes”), at a price of $1,045 per $1,000 principal amount of Notes. In
September 2005, the Company also repurchased $4.1 million of the 8% Notes at a premium of approximately $1,038 per $1,000 principal amount of Notes.
As a result of the tender and repurchases, the Company incurred debt extinguishment costs of $11.7 million pre-tax, $7.1 million after tax or $0.05 per share
on a diluted basis, relating primarily to premiums and other transaction costs. In December 2005, the Company repurchased an additional $2.2 million of the
8% Notes at a premium of approximately $1,026 per $1,000 principal amount of Notes.

      The Company’s $300.0 million of 2% Convertible Senior Debentures due March 15, 2034 (the “Debentures”) are convertible into Avnet common stock at
a rate of 29.5516 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Debentures. The Debentures are only convertible under certain circumstances,
including if: (i) the closing price of the Company’s common stock reaches $45.68 per share (subject to adjustment in certain circumstances) for a specified
period of time; (ii) the average trading price of the Debentures falls below a certain percentage of the conversion value per Debenture for a specified period of
time; (iii) the Company calls the Debentures for redemption; or (iv) certain corporate transactions, as
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defined, occur. Upon conversion, the Company will deliver cash in lieu of common stock as the Company made an irrevocable election in December 2004 to
satisfy the principal portion of the Debentures, if converted, in cash. The Company may redeem some or all of the Debentures for cash any time on or after
March 20, 2009 at the Debentures’ full principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Holders of the Debentures may require the Company to
purchase, in cash, all or a portion of the Debentures on March 15, 2009, 2014, 2019, 2024 and 2029, or upon a fundamental change, as defined, at the
Debentures’ full principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any.

      At July 2, 2005, the Company had two interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $400.0 million in order to hedge the change in fair value of the
8% Notes related to fluctuations in interest rates. These contracts were classified as fair value hedges with a November 2006 maturity date. The interest rate
swaps modified the Company’s interest rate exposure by effectively converting the fixed rate on the 8% Notes to a floating rate (6.4% at July 2, 2005) based
on three-month U.S. LIBOR plus a spread through their maturities. During the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company terminated the interest rate swaps
which hedged the 8% Notes due to the repurchase of $254.1 million of the $400.0 million 8% Notes, as previously discussed. The termination of the swaps
resulted in net proceeds to the Company, of which, $1.3 million was netted in debt extinguishment costs in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 based on the pro rata
portion of the 8% Notes that were repurchased. The remaining proceeds of $0.8 million, which represent the pro rata portion of the 8% Notes that have not
been repurchased, have been capitalized in other long-term debt and are being amortized over the maturity of the remaining 8% Notes.

      The Company has three additional interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $300.0 million, in order to hedge the change in fair value of the
93/4% Notes due February 15, 2008 (the “93/4% Notes”) related to fluctuations in interest rates. These hedges are classified as fair value hedges and mature in
February 2008. These interest rate swaps modify the Company’s interest rate exposure by effectively converting the fixed rate on the 93/4% Notes to a floating
rate (10.7% at December 31, 2005) based on three-month U.S. LIBOR plus a spread through their maturities.

      The hedged fixed rate debt and the interest rate swaps are adjusted to current market values through interest expense in the consolidated statements of
operations. The Company accounts for the hedges using the shortcut method as defined under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133,
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 138, Accounting for Certain
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. Due to the effectiveness of the hedges since inception, the market value adjustments for the hedged debt and
the interest rate swaps directly offset one another.

      In addition to its primary financing arrangements, the Company has several small lines of credit in various locations to fund the short-term working
capital, foreign exchange, overdraft and letter of credit needs of its wholly owned subsidiaries in Europe and Asia. Avnet generally guarantees its subsidiaries’
debt under these facilities.

Covenants and Conditions

      The accounts receivable securitization program agreement discussed in Financing Transactions above contains minimum interest coverage and leverage
ratios as defined in the Credit Facility (see discussion below). The Program agreement currently in effect also contains certain covenants relating to the
quality of the receivables sold. If these conditions are not met, the Company may not be able to borrow any additional funds and the financial institutions may
consider this an amortization event, as defined in the agreement, which would permit the financial institutions to liquidate the accounts receivable sold to
cover any outstanding borrowings. Circumstances that could affect the Company’s ability to meet the required covenants and conditions of the agreement
include the Company’s ongoing profitability and various other economic, market and industry factors. Management does not believe that the covenants under
the Program limit the Company’s ability to pursue its intended business strategy or future financing needs. The Company was in compliance with all
covenants of the amended and original Program agreements at December 31, 2005 and July 2, 2005, respectively.
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      The Credit Facility and Amended Credit Facility discussed in Financing Transactions contain certain covenants with various limitations on debt
incurrence, dividends, investments and capital expenditures and also includes financial covenants requiring the Company to maintain minimum interest
coverage and leverage ratios, as defined. Management does not believe that the covenants in the Credit Facility limit the Company’s ability to pursue its
intended business strategy or future financing needs. The Company was in compliance with all covenants of the amended and the original Credit Facility as of
December 31, 2005 and July 2, 2005, respectively.

      See Liquidity for further discussion of the Company’s availability under these various facilities.

Liquidity

      The Company had total borrowing capacity of $950.0 million at December 31, 2005 under the Credit Facility and the Program, against which
$23.2 million in letters of credit were issued under the Credit Facility, resulting in $926.8 million of net availability at the end of the second quarter. The
Company also had an additional $219.1 million of cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2005. There are no significant financial commitments of the
Company outside of normal debt and lease maturities discussed in Capital Structure and Contractual Obligations. Management believes that Avnet’s
borrowing capacity, its current cash availability and the Company’s expected ability to generate operating cash flows are sufficient to meet its projected
financing needs. The Company is less likely to generate significant operating cash flows in a growing electronic component and computer products industry.
However, additional cash requirements for working capital are generally expected to be offset by the operating cash flows generated by the Company’s
enhanced profitability as Avnet continues to realize further operating expense synergies following the acquisition of Memec. Furthermore, the next significant
public debt maturity is not until the $143.7 million of 8% Notes mature in November 2006, which management expects to be able to repay through available
cash and cash equivalents or available liquidity.

      The following table highlights the Company’s liquidity and related ratios as of the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2006 with a comparison to the fiscal
2005 year-end:

COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS — LIQUIDITY
             

  December 31,    Percentage
  2005  July 2, 2005  Change
  

 
 

 
 

 

  (Dollars in millions)
Current Assets  $ 4,335.0  $ 3,783.0   14.6%
Quick Assets   2,777.0   2,526.5   9.9 
Current Liabilities   2,478.0   1,717.5   44.3 
Working Capital   1,857.0   2,065.4   (10.1)
Total Debt   1,309.4   1,244.5   5.2 
Total Capital (total debt plus total shareholders’ equity)   3,909.4   3,341.5   17.0 
Quick Ratio   1.1:1   1.5:1     
Working Capital Ratio   1.7:1   2.2:1     
Debt to Total Capital   33.5%   37.2%     

      As discussed in Cash Flow, during the first six months of fiscal 2006, the Company utilized approximately $429.4 million for a number of notable
transactions, including the acquisition of Memec, accelerated contributions to the Company’s pension plan, cash used in connection with the repurchase of the
Company’s 8% Notes, cash used for the acquisition of the minority interest in Avnet’s Israeli subsidiary and cash payments made related to restructuring
charges and integration costs and other reserves recorded through purchase accounting. The Company’s quick assets (consisting of cash and cash equivalents
and receivables) increased 9.9% from July 2, 2005 to December 31, 2005 as a result the Memec acquisition, the impact on receivables in the second quarter
due to the significant increase in sales in the December quarter, offset in part by the cash usage discussed above. In addition to factors that impacted quick
assets, the 14.6% increase in
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current assets was also impacted by the increase in inventory primarily due to the acquisition of Memec. Current liabilities grew as a result of the November
2006 maturity status of the remaining $143.7 million of the 8% Notes, along with the acquisition of Memec and the corresponding growth in the size of
Avnet’s business, and the increase in accounts payable (see discussion in Cash Flow). Additionally, the Company retained one of Memec’s short-term
borrowing facilities in Japan which also contributes to the increased short-term borrowings balance at December 31, 2005. As a result of the factors noted
above, total working capital decreased by approximately 10.1% during the first half of fiscal 2006. Total capital grew primarily due to the 24.0 million shares
of Avnet common stock granted to Memec’s former shareholders to complete the acquisition. This corresponding $418.2 million growth in equity is also the
primary reason for the Company’s debt to capital ratio dropping from 37.2% at July 2, 2005 to 33.5% at December 31, 2005, as the Company paid off the
majority of Memec’s outstanding debt as part of the close of the acquisition.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

      In May 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 154 (“SFAS 154”),
Accounting Changes and Error Corrections. SFAS 154 applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle as well as to changes required by an
accounting pronouncement that does not include specific transition provisions. SFAS 154 eliminates the requirement in Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 20, Accounting Changes, to include the cumulative effect of changes in accounting principle in the income statement in the period of change and, instead,
requires changes in accounting principle to be retrospectively applied. Retrospective application requires the new accounting principle to be applied as if the
change occurred at the beginning of the first period presented by modifying periods previously reported, if an estimate of the prior period impact is
practicable and estimable. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005.
The Company does not currently anticipate any changes in accounting principle other than the adoption of SFAS 123R discussed below, which has its own
adoption transition provision and is therefore not in the scope of SFAS 154. As a result, Avnet does not believe the adoption of SFAS 154 will have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

      Effective in the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based
Payments (“SFAS 123R”) which revises SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, be measured at fair
value and expensed in the consolidated statement of operations over the service period (generally the vesting period). Upon adoption, the Company
transitioned to SFAS 123R using the modified prospective application, whereby compensation cost is only recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations beginning with the first period that SFAS 123R is effective and thereafter, with prior periods’ stock-based compensation for option and employee
stock purchase plan activity still presented on a pro forma basis. The Company continues to use the Black-Scholes option valuation model to value stock
options. As a result of the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company recognized pre-tax charges of $2.9 million and $6.0 million in the quarter and six months
ended December 31, 2005, respectively, associated with the expensing of stock options and employee stock purchase plan activity. Additionally, the Company
increased its grant activity under other stock-based compensation programs that have always been expensed in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations, which yielded incremental expense under these other programs amounting to $1.2 million and $1.8 million when compared with the second
quarter of fiscal 2005 and first half of fiscal 2005, respectively. In the second quarter of fiscal 2006, the combination of these two changes resulting from the
adoption of SFAS 123R resulted in incremental expenses of $4.0 million pre-tax (included in selling, general and administrative expenses), $2.6 million after
tax or $0.02 per share on a diluted basis. In the first half of fiscal 2006, the incremental expense was $7.8 million pre-tax (included in selling, general and
administrative expenses), $4.9 million after tax or $0.04 per share on a diluted basis.

      In November 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position No. 123R-3 (“FSP 123R-3”), Transition Election Relating to Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-
Based Payment Awards, which provides an optional alternative transition election for calculating the pool of excess tax benefits (“APIC pool”) available to
absorb
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tax deficiencies recognized under SFAS 123R. Under FSP 123R-3, an entity can make a one time election to either use the alternative simplified method or
use the guidance in SFAS 123R to calculate the APIC pool. As a result, the Company has elected to use the alternative simplified method under FSP 123R.

      In December 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. 109-2 (“FSP 109-2”), Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation
Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, which provides guidance for implementing the repatriation of earnings provisions of the American
Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Jobs Act”) and the impact on the Company’s income tax expense and deferred income tax liabilities. The Jobs Act was
enacted in October 2004. However, FSP 109-2 allows additional time beyond the period of enactment to allow the Company to evaluate the effect of the Jobs
Act on the Company’s plan for reinvestment or repatriation of foreign earnings. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the repatriation provisions
of FSP 109-2 and expects to complete this evaluation before the end of fiscal 2006. The Company is performing its evaluation in stages and, at this point, is
considering a range between zero and $100 million for potential repatriation. However, the related range of income tax effects from such repatriation cannot
be reasonably estimated at this time.

      In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4 (“SFAS 151”). SFAS 151 requires that
abnormal inventory costs such as abnormal freight, handling costs and spoilage be expensed as incurred rather than capitalized as part of inventory, and
requires the allocation of fixed production overhead costs to be based on normal capacity. SFAS 151 is to be applied prospectively and is effective for
inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The adoption of SFAS 151 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

      The Company seeks to reduce earnings and cash flow volatility associated with changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates by entering
into financial arrangements intended to provide a hedge against all or a portion of the risks associated with such volatility. The Company continues to have
exposure to such risks to the extent they are not hedged.

      See Item 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk, in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 2,
2005 for further discussion of market risks associated with interest rates and foreign currency exchange. Avnet’s exposure to foreign exchange risks have not
changed materially since July 2, 2005 as the Company continues to hedge the majority of its foreign exchange exposures. Thus, any increase or decrease in
fair value of the Company’s foreign exchange contracts is generally offset by an opposite effect on the related hedged position.

      See Liquidity and Capital Resources — Financing Transactions appearing in Item 2 of this Report for further discussion of the Company’s financing
facilities and capital structure. As of December 31, 2005, 66% of the Company’s debt bears interest at a fixed rate and 34% of the Company’s debt bears
interest at variable rates (including as variable rate debt $300.0 million of the 93/4% Notes based on the variable rate hedges in place to hedge the Company’s
exposure to changes in fair value associated with these Notes due to changes in interest rates — see Liquidity and Capital Resources — Financing
Transactions for further discussion). Therefore, a hypothetical 1.0% (100 basis point) increase in interest rates would result in a $1.1 million impact on
income before income taxes in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the quarter ended December 31, 2005.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

      The Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, have evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange
Act”)) as of the end of the reporting period covered by this quarterly report on Form 10-Q. Based on such evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report on Form 10-Q, the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures are effective such
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that material information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periods specified by the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms relating to the Company.

      During the second quarter of fiscal 2006, there have been no changes to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

44



Table of Contents

PART II

OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

      As a result primarily of certain former manufacturing operations, Avnet may have liability under various federal, state and local environmental laws and
regulations, including those governing pollution and exposure to and the handling, storage and disposal of hazardous substances. For example, under the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended (“CERCLA”) and similar state laws, Avnet may be liable for
the costs of cleaning up environmental contamination on or from its current or former properties, and at off-site locations where the Company disposed of
wastes in the past. Such laws may impose joint and several liability. Typically, however, the costs for cleanup at such sites are allocated among potentially
responsible parties (“PRPs”) based upon each party’s relative contribution to the contamination, and other factors.

      In May 1993, the Company and the former owners of a Company-owned site in Oxford, North Carolina entered into a Settlement Agreement in which the
former owners agreed to bear 100% of all costs associated with investigation and cleanup of soils and sludges remaining on the site and 70% of all costs
associated with investigation and cleanup of groundwater. The Company agreed to be responsible for 30% of the groundwater investigation and cleanup costs.
In October 1993, the Company and the former owners entered into a Consent Decree and Court Order with the Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”)
for the environmental clean-up of the site, the cost of which, according to the EPA’s remedial investigation and feasibility study, was estimated to be
approximately $6.3 million, exclusive of the approximately $1.5 million in EPA past costs paid by the PRPs. Based on current information, the Company does
not anticipate its liability in the matter will be material to its financial position, cash flow or results of operations.

      The Company is a PRP at a manufacturing site in Huguenot, New York, currently under investigation by the New York State Department of
Environmental Conservation (“NYSDEC”), which site the Company owned from the mid-1960s until the early-1970s. The Company has been engaged in
litigation to apportion the estimated clean-up costs among it and the current and former owners and operators of the site. The Company has reached a
tentative settlement in this matter, which will, upon payment, relieve the Company of ongoing liability for the first phase of the environmental clean up
(estimated to cost a total of $2.4 million for all parties to remediate contaminated soils) and for past costs incurred by NYSDEC and the current owner of the
site. This tentative agreement is still subject to finalization, including ratification by all parties involved and the remediation plan is subject to final approval
by NYSDEC. Based on the tentative settlement arrangement and the expected costs of the remediation efforts, the Company does not anticipate its liability in
the matter will be material to its financial position, cash flow or results of operations.

      Based on the information known to date, management believes that the Company has appropriately accrued in its consolidated financial statements for its
share of the costs associated with these environmental clean-up sites.

      The Company and/or its subsidiaries are also parties to various other legal proceedings arising from time to time in the normal course of business. While
litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties, management currently believes that the ultimate outcome of these proceedings, individually and in the aggregate,
will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, cash flow or results of operations.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

      The following table includes the Company’s monthly purchases of common stock during the quarter ended December 31, 2005:
                 

        Maximum Number
        (or Approximate
      Total Number of  Dollar Value) of
      Shares Purchased  Shares That May
  Total Number    as Part of Publicly  Yet Be Purchased
  of Shares  Average Price  Announced Plans  Under the Plans
Period  Purchased  Paid per Share  or Programs  or Programs

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

October   15,000   23.24   —   — 
November   20,000   22.60   —   — 
December   15,000   23.94   —   — 

      The purchases of Avnet common stock noted above were made on the open market to obtain shares for purchase under the Company’s Employee Stock
Purchase Plan. None of these purchases were made pursuant to a publicly announced repurchase plan and the Company does not currently have a stock
repurchase plan in place.

Item 6.     Exhibits
     

Exhibit   
Number  Exhibit

 
 

 

 31.1*  Certification by Roy Vallee, Chief Executive Officer, under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 31.2*  Certification by Raymond Sadowski, Chief Financial Officer, under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 32.1**  Certification by Roy Vallee, Chief Executive Officer, under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 32.2**  Certification by Raymond Sadowski, Chief Financial Officer, under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

 

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURE

      Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 AVNET, INC.
 (Registrant)

 By: /s/ RAYMOND SADOWSKI
 

 

 Raymond Sadowski
 Senior Vice President and
 Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 3, 2006
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Exhibit   
Number  Exhibit

 
 

 

 31.1*  Certification by Roy Vallee, Chief Executive Officer, under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 31.2*  Certification by Raymond Sadowski, Chief Financial Officer, under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 32.1**  Certification by Roy Vallee, Chief Executive Officer, under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 32.2**  Certification by Raymond Sadowski, Chief Financial Officer, under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

 

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.



 

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Roy Vallee, Chief Executive Officer of Avnet, Inc., certify that:

 1.  I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Avnet, Inc.;
 

 2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

 3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

 4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 a.  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 b.  designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 c.  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 d.  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing equivalent functions):

 a.  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 b.  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 3, 2006
     
   
 /s/ ROY VALLEE   
 Roy Vallee  
 Chief Executive Officer  
 

 



 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Raymond Sadowski, Chief Financial Officer of Avnet, Inc., certify that:

 1.  I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Avnet, Inc.;
 

 2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

 3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

 4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 a.  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 b.  designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 c.  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 d.  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing equivalent functions):

 a.  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 b.  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 3, 2006
     
   
 /s/ RAYMOND SADOWSKI   
 Raymond Sadowski  
 Chief Financial Officer  
 

 



 

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 
(AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended December 31, 2005 (the “Report”), I, Roy Vallee, Chief Executive Officer of
Avnet, Inc., (the “Company”) hereby certify that:

 1.  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 2.  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 3, 2006
     
   
 /s/ ROY VALLEE   
 Roy Vallee  
 Chief Executive Officer  
 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company and will be retained
by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. This certification will not be deemed “filed” for purposes
of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. Nor will this certification be deemed to be incorporated by reference
into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.

 



 

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 
(AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended December 31, 2005 (the “Report”), I, Raymond Sadowski, Chief Financial
Officer of Avnet, Inc., (the “Company”) hereby certify that:

 1.  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 2.  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 3, 2006
     
   
 /s/ RAYMOND SADOWSKI   
 Raymond Sadowski  
 Chief Financial Officer  
 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company and will be retained
by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. This certification will not be deemed “filed” for purposes
of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. Nor will this certification be deemed to be incorporated by reference
into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.

 


